
For a meeting of the
COUNCIL
to be held on

THURSDAY, 15 JUNE 2017
at

2.00 PM
in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Beverly Agass, Chief Executive    

Members of the Council are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held in the Council 
Chamber at 1:55pm before the commencement of the meeting. Please be seated 
by 1:50pm.

1. PUBLIC OPEN FORUM

The public open forum will commence at 2.00 p.m. and the following formal 
business of the Council will commence at 2.30 p.m. or whenever the public 
open forum ends, if earlier.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 APRIL 2017

(Enclosure)

5. COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS)

(Enclosure)

AGENDA



6. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

(1) Recommendations made at the meeting on 12 June 2017
(To follow)

(2) Recommendations made at the meeting on 22 May 2017

Report number LDS221 of the Chairman of the Constitution Committee
(Enclosure)

7. APPOINTMENT OF INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Report number CAB024 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

8. BIG CLEAN OPERATION - PROPOSALS TO AMEND BUDGET 
FRAMEWORK 2017/18

Report number CFM421 of the Cabinet Members for Environment and Finance.
(Enclosure)

9. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL

Report number LDS217 of the Chief Executive. (Enclosure)

10. LEADER'S REPORT ON URGENT DECISIONS

Report number CAB022 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

11. CABINET MINUTES FROM THE MEETING ON 1 JUNE 2017

Report number CAB023 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

12. MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS

A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 
Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Development Control Committee, Licensing and Alcohol, 
Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committees and 
Governance and Audit Committee.

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday, 21 
September 2017 is 2pm on Friday 8 September 2017



PRESENT
Chairman: Councillor Mrs Judy Smith then Councillor Bob Sampson

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Duncan Ashwell
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Terl Bryant
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Lynda Coutts
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Felicity Cunningham
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Tracey Forman
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor David Mapp
Councillor Charmaine Morgan

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Helen Powell
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Peter Stephens
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Mrs Sarah Stokes
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner
Councillor Frank Turner
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Martin Wilkins
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Rosemary H Woolley
Councillor Mrs Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Beverly Agass)
Strategic Directors (Tracey Blackwell, 
Steve Ingram, Daren Turner)
Executive Manager, Corporate (Lucy 
Youles)

Corporate Finance Manage (Richard 
Wyles)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

MINUTES
COUNCIL
THURSDAY, 20 APRIL 2017
2.00 PM

Page - 3

Agenda Item 4



1. STATEMENT BY COUNCILLOR BOB ADAMS

Following his resignation as the Leader of the Council, Councillor Adams made 
a brief statement thanking Members for their support and hard work. He also 
added his appreciation for the work of the authority’s officers and strategic 
directors who had helped take the district forward in a positive way and achieve 
recognition. After offering his thanks to Members, he wished the Council well 
for the future.

2. ELECTION OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Members were invited to make nominations for the Chairman of the Council.

A proposition was made and seconded that Councillor Brian Sumner be elected 
as Chairman of the District Council. Those Members who spoke in support of 
Councillor Sumner’s nomination referred to advice and support he had given 
them and stated that he would serve the Council well.

A nomination for Councillor Bob Sampson was also proposed and seconded; 
reference was made to the active role he had played in his Ward and the 
personal qualities that made him a strong contender for the role. The comment 
was also made that the Chairman was not a political appointment, so an 
independent Member would be well-placed to be Chairman.

A vote was taken and Councillor Sampson was elected as the Chairman of the 
Council.

The Chairman was invested with the chain of office. He made a declaration of 
acceptance and took the chair. 

COUNCILLOR SAMPSON IN THE CHAIR

The outgoing Chairman thanked the Council for giving her the opportunity to 
carry out the role. She said that she had felt privileged to live in a county and 
district with such outstanding towns, villages and countryside and having the 
opportunity to meet such a broad range of people. She thanked everyone who 
had supported her throughout her year in office, referring specifically to 
Councillor Bob Russell who had served as her consort, the Chairman’s 
Chaplain and the Chairman’s Officer, to each of whom she presented a gift to 
show her appreciation.

The Chairman presented Councillor Mrs. Smith with a gift to show the Council’s 
appreciation for all the work she had done during the year.

3. VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING CHAIRMAN

The Chairman led the vote of the thanks to the retiring Chairman. He praised 
her dedication to the role and her fairness in the way she conducted meetings. 

Page - 4



Reference was also made to Councillor Mrs. Smith’s continued active 
participation in other aspects of Council life and public service. He invited 
Members to show their appreciation with a round of applause.

4. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Councillor George Chivers was proposed and seconded as the Vice-Chairman 
of the Council. In proposing Councillor Chivers, reference was made to his 
dedication and dependability and that he was deserving of the honour of the 
position. On being put to the vote, this was carried and Councillor Chivers was 
elected as the Vice-Chairman of the District Council. Councillor Chivers signed 
the declaration of acceptance of office.

5. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Benn, Broughton, 
Evans, King and Webster.

6. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

7. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 MARCH 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2017 were proposed, seconded 
and agreed as a correct record.

8. COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS)

The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.

9. APPOINTMENT OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

A request was made that any Councillors nominated as Leader of the Council 
be given an opportunity to explain their manifestos prior to a vote.

Councillor Matthew Lee was proposed and seconded as Leader of the Council. 
Reference was made to Councillor Lee’s experience across both the private 
and public sector, noting specifically his role as Deputy Leader of Peterborough 
City Council and the active role he had played on committees in South 
Kesteven since his election. His supporters stated that they felt that the Council 
would be able to deliver more as a result of his leadership.

Councillor Ian Selby was also nominated for the position of Leader; this 
proposition was seconded. Those speaking in support of Councillor Selby felt 
that he would be able to be consultative and neutral. Reference was also made 
to his many years of experience as he was the longest-serving member of the 
Council and the commitment he had shown to public service during his term of 

Page - 5



office as Mayor of Grantham.

It was proposed and seconded that, following the vote to appoint the Leader, 
article 4.11.4 of the Council’s Constitution be suspended so that the successful 
nominee could fully outline their plans for the authority. This was put to the vote 
and carried. A request was also made that a recorded vote be taken for the 
position of Leader. In accordance with article 4.13.4 of the Council’s 
Constitution it was agreed that the vote would be recorded after more than ten 
Members indicated their support for the proposition.

Both candidates had the opportunity to speak. Councillor Selby accepted his 
nomination and said that he would be honoured to serve as Leader; he would 
look across the Council for his Cabinet. Councillor Lee stated that he looked 
forward to the opportunity to work with Members from across the whole 
Council. 

The vote was taken:

Councillor Lee Councillor Selby Abstain
Cllr Ashwell Cllr Baxter Cllr Adams
Cllr Mrs Bosworth Cllr Cook Cllr Bryant
Cllr Chivers Cllr Craft Cllr Mrs Cartwright
Cllr Cooke Cllr Cunningham Cllr Mrs Kaberry-Brown
Cllr Coutts Cllr Dilks Cllr Mrs Wootten
Cllr Dobson Cllr Forman Cllr Wootten
Cllr Exton Cllr Morgan
Cllr Goral Cllr Powell
Cllr Griffin Cllr Sampson
Cllr Jeal Cllr Selby
Cllr Kingman Cllr Stevens
Cllr Lee Cllr Turner
Cllr Manterfield Cllr Wood
Cllr Mapp
Cllr Dr Moseley
Cllr Neilson
Cllr Reid
Cllr Robins
Cllr Russell
Cllr Jacky Smith
Cllr Judy Smith
Cllr Stephens
Cllr A Stokes
Cllr I Stokes
Cllr Mrs S Stokes
Cllr Mrs Sumner
Cllr Sumner
Cllr Ward

Page - 6



Cllr Westropp
Cllr Wilkins
Cllr Woolley

31 13 6

Councillor Lee was duly elected as Leader of the Council. He said that the 
changes that he wanted to make would see Councillors in the driving seat. His 
proposals would support markets, shops and local businesses, championing 
them and helping them to reach their full potential so that towns were working 
communities. He added that the Council needed to respond to long-term 
structure changes. He stated that he was passionate about the area and 
making a positive, lasting difference by attracting new industries and jobs and 
looking at making the district’s offer more attractive. 

The Leader added that every Councillor needed to work together, regardless of 
political affiliation and that he wanted all Members to be more involved in 
holding each other to account, increasing debate and participation in the 
Chamber. He alluded to the proposed changes to overview and scrutiny which 
would be discussed at agenda item 11b.

He stated a commitment to improving working conditions for the officers of the 
Council so that it could retain and attract the best staff.

He introduced his Cabinet and gave an overview of their responsibilities (listed 
under minute number 10). He added that appointments were based on merit 
and whom he believed was best for each role.

Finally the Leader outlined his priorities and the areas on which he intended to 
focus. He wanted to make sure that all areas were vibrant, clean and attractive 
and any areas not up to those standards would be the subject of a large scale 
clean-up operation. The development focus for the district would be Grantham, 
making it a desirable attractive place that people wanted to live and visit. He 
talked about building on festivals and existing arts and heritage events in the 
district, continuing with plans for a cinema in Grantham, carrying out work in 
relation to leisure centres in Stamford, Bourne and the Deepings and 
introducing a heritage festival in Bourne. He concluded by saying that he hoped 
the new Cabinet and the introduction of new overview and scrutiny committees 
demonstrated his commitment to ensuring that everyone should have a voice in 
policy and decision-making.

Councillor Cook addressed the Chamber, stating that he could not align with 
the new leadership and was resigning from the Conservative group, continuing 
his term as an unaligned independent Councillor.

A number of Members spoke in response to the Leader’s statement, expressing 
some concern about his comments on inclusivity, which they did not feel were 
reflected in the overview and scrutiny proposals, under which the Labour group 

Page - 7



would have no representation on any scrutiny committee. Several comments 
were also made about the inclusive approach taken by the previous Leader and 
how that was reflected in the unanimous approval of the Council’s Budget, 
which had previously been unknown and the withdrawal of opposition 
amendments. It was hoped that the new Leader would honour the proposals 
raised during debate on the budget on 2 March 2017, which the previous 
Leader had agreed to take on board.

There was support for improving the office conditions however speakers said 
that this needed to be balanced against the people who lived in the area and 
the need to manage budgets in accordance with the needs of the community.

The choice of the Cabinet Member responsible for promoting growth was also 
questioned, as that Member was not a Grantham Councillor. 

The Leader responded to the comments, reiterating that Cabinet appointments 
were based on the selected Councillors having the appropriate skills and 
experience to successfully deliver. He had an expectation that all Cabinet 
Members would quickly get to grips with their areas of responsibility. In respect 
of working conditions for Council officers, the Leader clarified that when he had 
walked around the building, the staff that he had encountered were dedicated 
and wanted to do their best,  he wanted to ensure that accommodation and 
equipment was of a suitable standard. The Leader invited any Member with 
concerns or issues in their Ward to speak to an appropriate Cabinet Member, 
or to him directly, and they would visit the area to look more closely at those 
concerns.

10. ANNOUNCEMENT ON THE SIZE AND MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE 
AND THE ALLOCATION OF PORTFOLIOS

Responsibility Member
Human Resources and Cultural Services Councillor Matthew Lee
Business Transformation and Commissioning Councillor Kelham Cooke
Economy and Development Councillor Mike King
Major Development Projects Councillor Jacky Smith
Retail and Visitor Economy Councillor Nick Robins
Communications and Engagement Councillor Helen Goral
Finance Councillor Adam Stokes
Communities and Wellbeing Councillor Rosemary Woolley
Environment Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley

In addition to his Portfolio, Councillor Kelham Cooke would also take on the 
role of Deputy Leader of the Council.

Page - 8



11. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE AND OTHER 
PROPOSED CONSTITUTION CHANGES

(1) Recommendations from the Constitution Committee

Decision:

1.1 Members’ Open Questions

That the Constitution is amended at Article 4 – the Council, to 
include Open Questions at Council meetings in place of 
Questions by Members at Article 4.8 as shown below:

4.8 Open Questions by Members

4.8.1 i) Open questions at Council will not be allowed at the  
                            Council budget meeting.

ii)      Time allowed for questions will be a maximum of 45    
                   minutes.

iii) Questions should be addressed to: Leader, 
Executive Members, Chairman or Vice-chairman of 
PDGs and opposition Leaders.

iv) No questions are to be addressed to the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Development Control 
Committee, Licensing Committee (Alcohol, 
Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment 
Licensing Committee) or Governance and Audit 
Committee or any officer.

v) Questions will be on a first come, first served basis, 
members will join the queue through the electronic 
method using the speaker queuing system. (If the 
speaker queuing system is unavailable questions 
will be taken by a show of hands and this will be 
managed by the Chairman until the time allowed has 
been reached or before that if no more questions are 
forthcoming).

vi) No debate, speech or statement is to take place and 
members are limited to one question per meeting, 
no supplementary questions can be asked. Please 
note that questions only are to be asked and this 
will be managed through the Chairman.

Page - 9



vii) The response to any question that has been asked 
but not answered at the meeting is to be made 
available at the start of questions at the next full 
council meeting.

viii) Questions will not be recorded verbatim in the 
Council minutes. Details in the minutes will consist 
of the Member who asked the question, a brief 
summary of the question and either the Leader, 
Executive Member, Chairman or Vice-chairman of 
the PDG or opposition Leader who answered the 
question.  Recordings of council meetings are 
available for those Members who wish to listen to 
full council meetings.

ix) Members must show respect to each other during 
the session.

x) A question will be rejected by the chairman:

 if it is not about a matter for which the local 
authority has a responsibility or which 
directly affects the district; or

 is of a defamatory, frivolous, objectionable, 
improper or of an offensive nature; or

 which is substantially the same as a question 
which has been put at a meeting of the 
council in the past six months; or

 if the answer requires disclosure of 
confidential or exempt information

1.2 Development Control Committee

That the Constitution be amended at Article 9 to change the 
composition of the Development Control Committee to 15 
members

1.3 Member Training

That the Constitution is amended at Article 2.3b) as follows:

i) All members of the Development Control Committee, 
Licensing Committee (including Alcohol, Entertainment 
and Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committee) and 
Governance and Audit Committee are required to 
undergo mandatory training at the start of each term of 
office following an election. This mandatory training 

Page - 10



requirement relates to new Members, returning Members 
and substitute Members

ii) Members of these Committees are required to attend 
refresher training on an annual basis for the remainder of 
their term in order to retain their position on the 
Committee

The Chairman of the Constitution Committee thanked the Members and 
officers with whom he had worked during his tenure as Chairman and 
proposed the recommendations in report number LDS213, which related to 
Members’ Open Questions, reducing the size of the Development Control 
Committee and minimum training requirements for Members who sat on 
those Committees where training was mandatory. These proposals were 
seconded.

Reference was made to the recommendation on formally adopting 
Members’ Open Questions and that consequential amendments to the 
wording would be required should the recommendations at agenda item 
11b be adopted.

Each recommendation was subject to a separate vote, all of which were 
carried.

(2) Overview and Scrutiny Proposals

Decision:

1. That the Council approves the change of the name “Executive” 
to “Cabinet” throughout the Constitution

2. That the Council approves the changes to the Constitution 
relating to the provision of overview and scrutiny committees 
as set out at the Appendix to report number Cabinet 1 by 
deleting existing Articles 6 and 7 and replacing them with the 
new Article 6 and 7 as set out in the appendix, together with 
any consequential amendments and an increase to the number 
of members sitting on each overview and scrutiny committee 
from 6 to 7 and an increased quorum of 4 members rather than 
3 

The Leader proposed the recommendations in report number Cabinet 1; in 
so doing he stated that the changes he was suggesting would replace 
existing policy development arrangements with committees that were more 
holistic, looking at both budget and policy. The new committees would 
develop their own remits and be sufficiently dynamic to respond to 
emerging challenges. He explained that provision had been written into the 
arrangements that would permit any political group leader or deputy group 

Page - 11



leader to attend any overview and scrutiny committee meeting and have 
the right to speak or present reports. He felt that in respect of committee 
size, a smaller membership would help with focus and mean that the skills 
and expertise of their members would be used to best effect. The proposal 
was seconded.

Some concern was expressed about the timing of the report and a 
suggestion was made that, rather than immediately implementing new 
arrangements, it might be helpful to spend time reviewing existing 
arrangements. Further comments were also made about inclusivity and the 
representation of all political groups on the new committees. 

An amendment was proposed and seconded, which left intact the first 
recommendation to change the name from Executive to Cabinet, but 
replaced the second and third recommendations with the following:

“This Council resolves to set up a working party made up of 
representatives of all political groups on the Council to carefully consider all 
options to improve the policy development and scrutiny of this Council.”

Members speaking in favour of the amendment echoed concerns about the 
speed with which the changes would be implemented and the potential for 
confusion as there was no pre-agreed remit for any of the new committees.

Some members questioned whether the new arrangements would create 
conflict because the same committee that helped develop a policy would 
be instrumental should a decision relating to that policy be called-in. 
Concerns were also expressed about representation for Grantham, noting 
that there was a Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet 
members holding responsibility for engaging with town and parish councils, 
neither of which Grantham had. The Leader reiterated his previous remarks 
about opportunities for participation by all political groups.

One member requested that the remits for the overview and scrutiny 
committees, be presented to Council, to which the Leader agreed.

The Leader responded to the comments that had been made in support of 
the amendment, stating that the proposals would provide a proper 
engagement process that would help drive forward all policy development. 
He also spoke about opportunities for multiple committees to work together 
on overarching issues. In response to concerns raised by one Member 
about which Committee would take primacy in the event of a call-in, he 
explained that this would be determined by the Chairman of Chairmen for 
all overview and scrutiny committees. He also felt that any call-in would 
benefit from being considered by members who had been involved in the 
development of a policy; they would be aware of the background of an 
issue and the considerations of which a decision-maker should have taken 
account.

Page - 12



Prior to a vote on the amendment, the Monitoring Officer was asked to 
determine whether it was acceptable or whether it negated the original 
proposition. She stated that the amendment retained part of the original 
proposition and suggested that the remaining part be put to another body 
for consideration, therefore it complied with the requirements of the 
Constitution.

A vote was taken and the amendment was lost.

A further amendment was proposed: that each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee consist of 7 members with a quorum of 4 and that all political 
group leaders or their appointed representatives have a right to attend and 
speak at any overview and scrutiny committee meetings.

16:34 to 16:55 – the meeting was adjourned to allow the calculation of 
political balance in light of the new committee size proposed by the 
amendment and the two resignations from the Conservative Group.

Following the adjournment, the amendment was withdrawn as an 
arrangement had been reached between the Conservative and Labour 
Groups. The Leader agreed to adjust his proposals to increase the 
membership of the overview and scrutiny committees to 7 with a quorum of 
4 and, as the political balance calculation identified a tie between the 
Conservative Group and the Labour Group for the outstanding place, he 
agreed that it should be given to the Labour Group. He also clarified that 
the remit of each committee could be presented to Council once it had 
been agreed.

The proposals were put to the vote and carried.

12. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES INCLUDING THE APPOINTMENT OF 
THEIR CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN

Decision:

To approve the appointments to Committees and Panels and their 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen as appended to the minutes

Report number LDS209 asked Council to approve the membership of its 
committees and panels. Nominations from Group Leaders had been circulated 
prior to the meeting; the Leader of the Council made some verbal updates to 
their nominees and the Labour Group also made verbal nominations for their 
places on the overview and scrutiny committees. As a result of the change to 
the Council’s political balance which resulted from the resignation of two 
Councillors from the Conservative Group, there was a tied entitlement to the 
final seat on the Governance and Audit Committee, which the Conservative 
group also agreed Labour could fill.

Page - 13



The final nominations (appended to these minutes) were seconded and subject 
to a vote, which was carried.

13. TIMETABLE OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Decision:

That the Council approves the dates of meetings for the Council, Cabinet 
and committees as per the attached timetable

Since the circulation of report number LDS208, a number of updates had been 
made to the draft programme of meetings. The updated draft was circulated to 
all members prior to the meeting. The draft programme of meetings as 
circulated was proposed, seconded and, on being put to the vote, agreed.

17:15 - As the meeting had been in progress for three hours, it was proposed 
and seconded that, in accordance with article 4.6.4 of the Council’s 
Constitution, the meeting should continue until all business had been 
concluded.

14. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO OUTSIDE BODIES

Decision:

To appoint the Leader (or the Deputy Leader in the Leader’s absence) as 
the Council’s representative on East Midlands Councils and the Local 
Government Association

Report number LDS207 asked the Council to make appointments to both East 
Midlands Councils and the Local Government Association.

It was proposed, seconded and, on being put to the vote, agreed that the 
Leader (and in his absence, the Deputy Leader) should represent the Council 
on both bodies.

15. AMENDMENT TO CAR PARKING ORDER

Decision:

That the Council adopts the South Kesteven District Council Civil 
Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 2017 (as attached at 
Appendix 1 to report number LDS211)

Report number LDS211 sought approval from the Council to adopt the South 
Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 
2017 following the expiry of the period of consultation with relevant statutory 
bodies and the public. The Former Leader proposed that the recommendation 

Page - 14



made by the outgoing Executive be approved. The proposition was seconded 
and, on being put to the vote, agreed unanimously.

16. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND WORK PLAN

Decision:

1. Council approves the Annual Report of the Governance and Audit 
Committee for 2016/17

2. Council approves the indicative work plan and timetable for 2017/18 
which reflects the terms of reference of the Governance and Audit 
Committee

The outgoing Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee presented its 
annual report for 2016/17 and the draft work programme for 2017/18. He 
referred to the Committee’s achievements during the year and the increased 
standards achieved as a result of the hard work of officers and Members. He 
proposed the recommendations in report number GAC009, which were 
seconded. On being put to the vote, the recommendations were approved.

17. MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS

Question 1

Councillor Selby asked the Cabinet Member for Environment whether he would 
join the refuse crews on one of their Christmas rounds as the previous 
incumbent had.

Question 2

Councillor Dilks asked the Leader what changes he had instituted as Leader 
Designate regarding personnel matters, office arrangements and changes to 
the building, under what authority and at what cost.

Question 3 

Councillor Bryant addressed a question to the Cabinet Member for Finance 
about how he proposed to replace the monies lost from falling Revenue 
Support Grant while meeting rising costs and additional pressures created by 
the withdrawal of services by other organisations in light of the plans that the 
Leader revealed during the meeting

Question 4

Councillor Powell asked a question about the impact of government-level 
changes on the work of the Development Control Committee and its non-
political role

Page - 15



Question 5

Councillor Morgan asked the Leader about ensuring that proposals made at the 
Budget meeting and work begun by the policy development groups would be 
carried forward 

Question 6

Councillor Ashley Baxter asked whether Members of the Cabinet would visit the 
Deepings after 4 May 2017 to meet with the Ward Councillors and local 
stakeholders to talk about the services and facilities available in the area

18. QUESTIONS WITHOUT DISCUSSION

As agenda item 11a had been approved, which replaced Questions Without 
Discussion with Members’ Open Questions, this item was withdrawn.

19. NOTICES OF MOTION GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9:

Councillor Dilks had proposed a motion about the Council’s Investment 
Strategy which allowed the purchase of property situated outside South 
Kesteven for investment purposes. He explained that he had agreed to 
withdraw the motion after a commitment from the Leader that the policy and 
decision to purchase outside the district would be reviewed.

20. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 17:35.

Page - 16



List of Chairman’s Engagements 
20 April 2017 to 15 June 2017

Date Ref Organisation and Event Location Chauf
Tuesday 
25.04.17

GC001 Mayor of Peterborough – The 
Lonely Anzac Service

Broadway Cemetery, 
Peterborough 

Thursday 
27.04.17

BS001 Deepings Literary Festival 
opening soiree 

The Deepings Library, 
Market Deeping

Saturday 
29.04.17

BS002 An evening at Belvoir Castle
Mayor & Mayoress of Melton 

Belvoir Castle 
Sunday 
07.05.17

BS003 Mayor of Grantham’s 
Thanksgiving Service

St Wulfram’s Church
Grantham

Tuesday 
09.05.17

BS004 Deeping St James Parish 
Council “Making a Difference”
Awards and entertainment 

The Conference 
Centre, The Deepings 
School

Thursday 
01.06.17

BS005 Buckingham Palace Garden 
Party

Buckingham Palace, 
London 

Thursday
08.06.17

BS007 Sovereign’s Annual Reception College Hall Officers 
Mess, Cranwell 

Page - 17

Agenda Item 5



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Brenda Sumner
Chairman of the Constitution Committee

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

COUNCIL

15th  June 2017

Report from the Constitution Committee – 22nd 
May 2017 – LDS219

Decision
Proposal:

Council decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke – Deputy Leader and Cabinet member 
for Business Transformation and Commissioning 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Lucy Bonshor  -  Democratic Officer 
E-mail – l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk  Tel: 01476 406120

Lucy Youles – Executive Manager, Corporate
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk Tel: 01476 406105

Beverly Agass – Chief Executive
E-mail: b.agass@southkesteven.gov.uk Tel: 01476 406100

SUMMARY
The Appendix to this report sets out the reports made to and the minutes of the 
Constitution Committee held on the 22nd May 2017. The Committee considered and 
recommended to Council amendments to the Constitution to change the name of the 
Development Control Committee to the Development Management Committee and to 
constitute an Employment Committee.

Page - 18

Agenda Item 6b

mailto:l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:b.agass@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that Council approves the recommendations from the Constitution 
Committee as follows:

1. That the name of the Development Control Committee is changed to the 
Development Management Committee and that the Constitution is amended to 
reflect the change.

2. That the Constitution is amended:

 To include a new Article 13 – Employment Committee as set out in Appendix 
A to report LDS216 and;

 That subsequent consequential changes relating to the numbering of the 
Articles in the Constitution are made and;

 That the deletion of the Chief Executive’s Performance and Remuneration 
Panels are agreed and;

 That the number of members of the Employment Committee to be appointed 
are seven and that the appointments would provide cross party 
representation. On current group membership this would be provided with 
four Conservative group representatives and one representative from each 
of the other three groups represented on the Council).

 That subsequent consequential changes relating to the title of the Chief 
Executive’s Appeal Panel and to the reference to the Performance Panel are 
made. 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT;

1.1 On the 22nd May 2017 the Constitution Committee considered both the change 
of name of the Development Control Committee and the constitution of an 
Employment Committee. The details of the proposed changes are set out on 
the Appendix to this report which includes the reports made to the Constitution 
Committee and the minutes of the meeting of that Committee

1.2 The Committee agreed to recommend the name change from the Development 
Control Committee to the Development Management Committee for the 
reasons given in Report LDS214

1.3 The Committee agreed to recommend the constitution of the Employment 
Committee with the terms of reference set out in Report LDS216. In making the 
recommendation, the Committee agreed to recommend that the Employment 
Committee should consist of 7 Members which would not reflect political 
proportionality but which would represent cross-party participation with 4 
Conservative group Members, I Independent Member, 1 Labour group Member 

Page - 19



and 1 SK Independent Member. This is based on the current group membership 
of Council Members and may require change when changes to groups occur. 
This will require an unanimous decision of the Council to remove the 
requirement for political proportionality when appointments are considered at 
item 9 on the Agenda. In addition, the terms of reference of the Employment 
Committee would include the terms of reference of the Chief Executive’s 
Performance Panel and Remuneration Panel. It is recommended that those 
Panels are disbanded. The Appeals Panel must remain to consider any appeals 
from determinations made by the Employment Committee relating to specific 
employment issues. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The recommendations are made from the Constitution Committee and no other 
options have been considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

There are no resource implications relating to the recommendations made.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
None

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

Any issues are considered in the reports to the Constitution Committee.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None Applicable

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Financial Services comments are included in the Reports LDS214 and 216 set 
out in the Appendix to this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

Legal and Democratic comments are included in the Reports LDS214 and 216 
set out in the Appendix to this report.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

10. APPENDICES

Reports to and Minutes of the Constitution Committee meeting - 22.5.17

Page - 20



11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

The Constitution
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=3407 

Page - 21

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=3407


Appendix 

Page - 22



Page - 23



Page - 24



Page - 25



Page - 26



Page - 27



Page - 28



Page - 29



Page - 30



Page - 31



Page - 32



Page - 33



Page - 34



Page - 35



Page - 36



Page - 37



    COUNCIL
Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Human Resources and 
Cultural Services

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

COUNCIL

15th June 2017

Appointment of an Interim Chief Executive (Ref: 
CAB024)

Decision
Proposal:

To approve the recommendation of the cross-party Panel formed to 
consider this matter

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee – Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Human Resources and Cultural Services

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Judith Davids – Executive Manager, Commercial
e-mail: j.davids@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 40

Lucy Youles – Executive Manager, Corporate
e-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406105

SUMMARY

This report makes a recommendation for the appointment of an Interim Chief 
Executive for an initial 12 month period with the possibility of extending this further 
based on performance and progress made.
Appendix A contains the job description and person specification which formed 
the basis of the criteria that were used by a cross-party panel of Members formed 
to consider this matter, in making their selection and recommendation. 
Appendix B shows the key objectives set out for this interim role for the first 12 
months.

Page - 38

Agenda Item 7

mailto:j.davids@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
1. That the Council accepts the nomination of the Leader and approves Aidan Rave as 

the interim Chief Executive including the duties of Head of Paid Service, the 
Electoral Registration Officer ( in fulfilment of the requirement of s.8 of the 
Representation of People Act 1983), the  Returning Officer ( under the requirements 
of S41 of the Local Government Act 1972) and the full range of duties set down in 
the Chief Executives Job Description set out in Appendix A of this report together 
with the specific objectives set out for the first 12 months of tenure.

2. That, due to the incumbent Chief Executive’s planned leave, the statutory duties 
described above are transferred to Aidan Rave with effect from 16th June 2017.

3. That the proposed Employment Committee (subject to Council approval) undertakes 
to review the performance of the Interim Chief Executive in terms of progress made 
against the specific objectives as set out in Appendix B, and based on this, 
authorises any extension of the initial 12 month contract as appropriate, in 
consultation with the Leader. 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The current Chief Executive leaves the employment of the Council on 3rd July, 
to take up a new role with South Cambridgeshire District Council. Due to 
annual leave commitments the Chief Executive’s last working day at the 
Council will be 15th June 2017.

1.2 In order to deliver the Council’s ambitious plans for the future, and to inject 
further energy and pace into our delivery of this, we have advertised externally 
and internally to attract and appoint an Interim Chief Executive with the 
necessary experience and a proven track record of delivering strategic change 
to come in and “kick-start” the Council’s transformational journey.  The interim 
Chief Executive will need to fundamentally transform the way that we deliver 
services to our communities for the better, as well as managing the day to day 
activities of the Council.

1.3 An external specialist interim recruitment agency was commissioned to identify 
and attract the best of potential recruits that matched the Council’s 
requirements, and that possessed the required attributes as outlined in the 
person specification. Internal applicants were invited to apply via this same 
agency.

1.4 In order to see these changes through to implementation, an initial contract 
term of 12 months has been offered with a strong possibility of extending this 
further depending on performance and progress made.

1.5 This interim period will allow the Council to establish solid foundations for future 
growth and to consider, in the light of this, how it wishes to continue to move 
forwards in the future; and therefore the type of strategic senior management 
and leadership that will need to be in place to deliver this. 

1.6 The Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development recognise the specific 
role that the use of Interim staff in senior positions can have in facilitating and 

Page - 39



implementing organisational change.  In an earlier survey conducted by them 
regarding the use of interims, the most popular response was to fulfil a short-
term need (34 per cent) such as covering for staff absence. However a large 
number of respondents (30 per cent) said interims were brought on board to 
achieve a specific project, while steering an organisation through change (18 
per cent).  This research certainly supports the decision to propose an Interim 
appointment for this most senior position with the very specific brief to 
transform services and deliver a suite of key projects.

1.7 A cross-party Panel was formed, and met on 26th May to review the candidates 
selected and presented to them by the external recruitment agency, in order to 
agree the shortlist of candidates to be selected for interview.  From the five 
candidates proposed, three were shortlisted for interview at this stage.

.
1.8 The Panel met again on the 31st May to conduct the interviews, and have 

recommended through the Leader the nomination being tabled before Council 
today.  In accordance with the officer employment procedure rules, the 
Members of the Cabinet have been informed of the proposed appointment and 
no objection has been received to the proposal.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The recruitment of a permanent Chief Executive would normally take between 
six and twelve months depending on the required notice period.  This would 
have represented a missed opportunity to start the Council’s transformational 
journey, and a delay to the delivery of the required outcomes and improved 
services to our communities.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

The salary offered for the interim role is within the budget already set.  

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

There are no significant risks associated with the proposals. The proposals 
provide an opportunity to transform the Council’s services and deliver better 
outcomes for the communities that we serve.

Category Risk Action / Controls
None identified N/A

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

N/A
The Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy and procedures fully address 
the requirements of Equality & Diversity legislation. 

.

Page - 40



6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and order implications relating to this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

This post is well established within the organisational staffing structure and 
therefore the budgeted costs are already included in the 2017/18 budget 
framework and included in the medium term financial plan.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

S.112 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that the local authority shall 
appoint such officers as it considers necessary for the proper discharge of its 
functions. A local authority is required to do this in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. This Act requires 
the appointment of statutory officers and the adoption of standing orders with 
respect to staff by Council. Standing orders have been adopted by this Council 
as set out in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 
2001 and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in the Constitution. 

9. COMMENTS OF PEOPLE AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
SERVICE

All relevant comments are included in the body of the report.

10. APPENDICES

Appendix A – Chief Executive Job Description and Person Specification
Appendix B – Key Objectives for the first 12 months

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

The Constitution 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=3407 

Page - 41

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=3407


South Kesteven District Council 

Job Description

Job title:   Chief Executive

Work base:  Council Offices, St Peters Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ and in accordance with 
business requirements

Salary: CE1 (currently £122,745 Per annum) 
May 2017

Hours: In accordance with business requirements and 
in line with the working time directive

Contract type: Fixed Term for an initial 12 months with a possibility of extension for a further 10 months

1 Job context and purpose

As the most senior officer in the Council, the post holder is responsible for ensuring that the strategic 
aims of the organisation are clear and fully reflect the Council’s vision, values and priorities and the 
needs of the people of South Kesteven, and balances these against available resources.

As the Council’s principal policy advisor, the post holder will support and advise the Leader of the 
Council, the Cabinet and Elected Members in setting priorities, enabling them to make informed 
decisions.  

Lead South Kesteven’s input to regional working across the county and through other local alliances 
including Local Councils, the commercial sector and regional partner structures, including the NHS.

Lead collaborative working that delivers continual improvements in the standards and efficiency of 
service delivery and a clear focus on agreed priorities; lead and promote partnership working throughout 
the district with focus on public sector reform.

2 Main duties and Responsibilities 

Statutory Responsibilities

To act as the Council’s Head of Paid Service and fulfil the statutory responsibilities as outlined in the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

To fulfil responsibilities as set out in the Council’s Constitution.

To have lead responsibility for the safety, health and welfare of all employees or workers in accordance 
with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and related legislation and Council policies.

Leadership Responsibilities

To assist in the ongoing development and execution of the strategic vision and key priorities for South 
Kesteven set out by the Leader and Elected Members.

Page - 42



To provide strong, visible and inspirational leadership to the Corporate Management Team to all 
employees and partners championing efficiency sound direction within a culture of continuous 
improvement across the Council.

To maintain the channels of communication between South Kesteven and all tiers of Local Government 
across Lincolnshire and the wider region, leveraging influence in support of agreed objectives for the 
area.

To develop and tailor effective partnership solutions where there are clear advantages for South 
Kesteven.

To support Elected Members in the provision of modern and effective democratic arrangements that 
meet the requirements of Government and the local community.

To lead the modernisation of South Kesteven District Council, developing a flexible and corporate ‘one 
team’ approach with the flexibility, agility and self-confidence required to exploit the opportunities and 
meet the challenges of an ever-changing Local Government environment.

To represent the Council and act as advocate and proactive and effective ambassador for South 
Kesteven within the local community, region and with key stakeholders.

To ensure, through personal example and rigorous action, that a sustained performance culture 
permeates and infiltrates the organisation, connecting vision to action, providing accountability and 
generating a framework to empower, value, develop and grow employees to take effective and 
appropriate responsibility for their work areas.

Democratic Responsibilities

To manage the interface between Elected Members and Officers, support the democratic processes, 
and act as the Council’s principal adviser on policy options and professional matters.

To ensure effective scrutiny arrangements are in place in accordance with statutory requirements and 
regulation.

To act as Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer, where appointed by Council.

Resources Management Responsibilities

To secure the staff and other resources needed to deliver high quality, cost effective services with the 
flexibility to respond to changing demands.

To ensure the development, implementation and monitoring of robust financial planning processes in 
order to meet the Council’s priorities and achieve a balanced budget.

To champion a customer-focused approach within the Council to ensure effective and efficient service 
delivery.

Governance and Risk Management

Ensure the effective governance of the Council and the legality, probity, integrity, proper public 
accountability and scrutiny of its decision-making processes.

Ensure the Council is aware of and responds to impending legislation.

Page - 43



Contribute to the overall management of risk within the Council, ensuring that lines of accountability are 
clear and well understood and systems are in place for monitoring, evaluating and managing risk to 
secure the reputation and physical, virtual and intellectual resources of the Council.

Support the Council’s response to a major incident, in conjunction with statutory partner organisations 
and lead the work of the Emergency Team as required.

Leading People

Lead, inspire, motivate and develop the Council’s staff to ensure that the Council can attract, motivate, 
reward, retain and develop a high calibre workforce.

Sustain and enhance the outward facing community and customer focus of the workforce.

Secure the effective operational leadership and management of all key functions within the Council.

Directly manage all staff within the responsibility of the role.

Programme and Change Management

Lead the strategic change agenda and ensure the successful delivery of business transformation 
programmes across the Council, including, where appropriate, involving partner organisations, to 
ensure the successful delivery of improvements to services.

Election Duties

Be the Returning Officer for Local, Parliamentary and European Elections.

4 Contacts and relationships

Responsible for: As Head of Paid Service, the post holder is responsible for all staff within South 
Kesteven District Council in addition to having Line Management responsibility for each member of the 
Council’s Corporate Management Team.

Responsible to: The Leader of the Council will provide the primary direction to the role; the post holder 
is also responsible to the Elected Members of the Council.

5 Political Restriction

This job is politically restricted.

6 Flexibility

Some flexibility in the working hours will be required from time to time. This job description is not 
intended to be exhaustive. The post holder will be expected to adopt a flexible attitude to duties which 
may have to be varied (after discussion with the post holder) subject to the changing needs of the 
organisation.

Page - 44



7 Authority to work in the UK

You must have the legal authority to work in the UK. Non-EU nationals must have the relevant approval 
to work in the UK from the UK Visas and Immigration service. Copies of all documents provided by you 
as proof of identity are retained for our records, by providing these proofs the council will treat this as 
your consent for this to happen.

8 Person Specification

The person specification details the essential and desirable personal criteria which the post holder 
should possess in order to be able to successfully perform the job.  Candidates will be assessed 
through application (A), Interview (I) and testing (T), where relevant.

KEY CRITERIA JOB REQUIREMENTS Essential 
or 

desirable

Assessment 
By

A/I/T

Qualifications Graduate level of education or equivalent, able to 
absorb, assimilate and convey complex information 
to a range of different audiences.

A post-graduate, research-based qualification (e.g. 
MBA).

Evidence of a commitment to continuing professional 
development and learning.

E

D

E

A

A

A/I

Experience & 
Skills

Significant and broad-based leadership experience 
in a similar complex and politically sensitive 
organisation with evidence of taking on 
responsibilities outside of current role remit.

A track record of significant achievement in 
transforming and leading excellent services within a 
challenging financial environment.

Practical experience and knowledge of exploiting 
new commercial opportunities and winning 
commitment from cross-organisational stakeholders.

Experience of successfully leading strategic change 
programmes.

Sound financial management, along with experience 
of budgetary responsibilities including the successful 
and cost effective management of complex budgets.

E

E

E

E

E

A

A

A

A

A

Page - 45



Experience of leveraging partnership solutions in 
support of common goals, leading to shared 
resources and reduced overhead costs.

Visible and inspirational leadership that captures and 
harnesses a positive approach resulting in building 
motivation across the organisation and so enhancing 
resources to deliver effectively on the ground.

A track record of managing conflicting national and 
local priorities, building consensus and establishing 
common threads of agreement.

Experience of being an effective organisational 
ambassador.  Well versed in reputation management 
with demonstrable experience of protecting the 
interests of the organisation and minimising any 
reputation damage from difficult or controversial 
decision-making.

E

E

E

E

A

A

A

A

Skills, 
Knowledge & 
Abilities

Highly competent in strategic management with the 
ability to meaningfully interpret and present 
management information, cutting through 
bureaucracy to develop effective strategy.

A highly effective and persuasive communicator with 
the ability to relate to people at all levels, including 
the media.

Visible, transformational and inspirational leadership 
qualities, able to express and win support for the 
development of South Kesteven in line with Council 
priorities.

Able to display commercial/business awareness and 
the ability to gain and sustain customer and public 
confidence.

Track-record in building and sustaining complex 
partnerships which facilitate the effectiveness and 
efficiency of service design, commissioning and 
delivery.

An understanding of the regulatory and legislative 
framework within which Public Sector operates.

Able to work in a pressurised political environment 
and manage competing priorities while delivering on 
a multiplicity of projects, adapting to changing 
circumstances and priorities, particularly where 
political unity cannot be relied upon.

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

Page - 46



Able to operate effectively and openly within the 
democratic process, with the political acumen, 
emotional intelligence and skills to develop 
productive working relationships with Elected 
Members that commands respect, trust and 
confidence.

E I

Personal 
Attributes & 
Behaviours

A visionary leader who can win the confidence of 
staff and partners.

Calm under pressure with the ability to make 
informed and evidence-based decisions in a timely 
manner.

Resilient and resourceful; able to cope with setbacks 
and deliver against priorities in challenging 
circumstances.

A natural champion of internal talent; enabling 
professional mobility within South Kesteven District 
Council so that talented individuals are able make a 
significant contribution to the council whilst achieving 
their professional ambitions.

Politically sensitive, able to work effectively with a 
diverse range of internal and external stakeholders.
A commitment to higher standards with a clear focus 
on enabling continuous improvement to flourish at all 
levels of the organisation.

A champion of innovation and continuous 
improvement; signalling the permission to each 
member of staff within the organisation to think 
differently and test out new ideas.

E

E

E

E

E

E

I/T

I/T

I/T

I/T

I/T

I/T

Page - 47



Interim Chief Executive Key objectives for the first 12 months

With a new Leader and new Cabinet in place, you will lead the organisational response 
to the priorities of the new leadership team. This will be set out within a revised 
corporate strategy that reflects the political agenda for change, based on an efficient, 
responsive and ambitious organisational culture, ensuring that over a two-year period, 
South Kesteven is widely recognised as one of the fastest improving, most innovative 
and customer-driven councils in the UK. To achieve this, the behavioral characteristics 
of the council will begin to shift towards: 

o A bias for action based on a ‘can do’ mentality 
o A confident, outward looking and commercially astute approach 
o A restless and relentless desire for improvement 
o Clear community leadership expressed through elected members, supported by 

officers 
o A growing reputation for excellence and innovation based on active and 

meaningful engagement with partners at local, regional and national level. 

There are a number of general objectives that will enable this to happen:

 Ensuring that the organisation is ‘fit for purpose’ in terms of management structures, 
and with the right people/skills in the right positions to deliver the new political 
agenda

 Being visible to staff in the organisation, demonstrating credible leadership and 
establishing yourself in your role as Chief Executive as a strong and recognisable 
figurehead for the Council

 Developing a sound and stable working relationship with elected Members, and in 
particular an effective working partnership with the Leader

 Identifying and commissioning the means to transform the organisation’s culture into 
one that is positive; based on a “can do” premise, which is performance, delivery 
and outcome focused

 Introducing and delivering a comprehensive programme that places the customer at 
the centre of the organisation and delivers efficiencies in terms of service 
optimisation and rationalisation

 Exploiting opportunities to significantly raise the profile of both the council and the 
district at national level, as a means of attracting future investment, resource 
opportunities and talent 

 Maintaining a careful overview of county-wide matters, working closely with partners 
to identify and exploit opportunities and in particular assessing and influencing the 
on-going devolution/unitary agenda as it develops. 

Page - 48



In more specific terms there are also a number of service related priorities, including to:

 Remodel the council’s St Peter’s Hill offices to fully support a flexible working 
environment and to maximise rental income

 Ensure that the delivery of all key elements of the Council’s business plan is 
proceeding in accordance with the relevant measures and agreed timelines

 Further the development of a national network of contacts and discussions that 
benefit South Kesteven and especially the regeneration and economic development 
of the High Streets and public realm within our main towns and settlements 

 Monitor closely and ensure appropriate actions are being undertaken to address the 
issues surrounding Grantham Hospital 

 Continue and in some instances significantly accelerate the delivery of capital 
programmes including the St. Peter’s Hill Cinema development and other 
employment and housing initiatives 

 Ensure a comprehensive council response to the political prioritisation of the street 
cleaning and wider environmental improvements across the district 

 Undertake a review of sports and leisure provision across the district, providing the 
Leader and senior members with a range of realistic and costed options for 
improvement 

 Review and refresh the councils approach to investing in tourism, arts and culture 
across the district.

This is not intended to be an exhaustive list of objectives, inevitably there will be a wide 
range of objectives and short-term priorities that will emerge from time to time and that 
will need to be addressed and managed.  

Page - 49



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for the Environment & Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet 

Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

15th June 2017

Big Clean (report no. CFM 421)

Decision
Proposal:

Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Members:

Cllr Dr Peter Moseley - Cabinet Member for the Environment
Cllr A Stokes -  Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Richard Wyles – Corporate Finance Manager
01476 406210 – r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director Environment and Property
01476 406 058 – t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk

Daren Turner – Strategic Director Corporate
01476 406301 – d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk

SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to request that Council approve the necessary 
amendments to the budget framework 2017/18 in order to facilitate the delivery of the 
district wide ‘Big Clean’ project. The amendments, if approved, will change the General 
Fund Revenue Account, the General Fund Capital Framework and the Council’s 
General Fund reserves.

Page - 50

Agenda Item 8

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Council approves:

1. The amendment of the General Fund budget framework for 2017/18 in order to 
include a supplementary estimate of £661,000 revenue and £226,500 capital to 
facilitate the delivery of the “Big Clean” project.

2. The financing of the supplementary estimate in 2017/18 to be met from the 
Council’s local priorities reserve.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The business case and associated objectives and outcomes from the ‘Big 
Clean’ project is documented in report ENV660 which was presented to 
Cabinet on 1st June 2017. At the meeting, Cabinet approved recommendation 
1 above and the following:

1. That a Big Clean initiative is undertaken over a 3 month period
2. That the work specification is set to achieve a higher street standard i.e. 

removal of all weeds, washing of street furniture, removal of graffiti as 
detailed in the report

3. That members and officers develop a South Kesteven “street scene 
standard” 

4. That following a review of the outcomes from the project ongoing 
investment in the service is considered as growth during the 2018/19 
budget process which will ensure the higher street standard is maintained

5. That volunteers are actively encouraged and supported to contribute to 
the improvements

6. As part of the big clean project funding, £15,000 is allocated to the 
community cleaner grant scheme to further promote locally resourced 
cleansing within district.

7. That a communications strategy is developed and implemented to support 
the changes

The report was also discussed in detail at the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 23rd May 2017 and the recommendations listed above 
were supported by the Committee. 

1.2 In order to fund this project Cabinet recommend that Council approve the 
necessary investment needed to deliver this project. The report is attached at 
Appendix A for reference.

Page - 51



1.3 Financial considerations

The specific details of the required investment are detailed below:

 A £661,000 investment in both short term and longer term teams (5 
in total) during  2017/18 consisting of:
 An initial revenue investment of £450,000 providing 4 teams, 

targeting identified areas over a 3 month period, bringing the 
District to a high standard of appearance.

 A further revenue in-year investment of £211,000 to fund an 
additional team to support the delivery of the higher standard on 
an ongoing basis.  

 A further capital investment in year of £226,500 for the purchase of 
the necessary equipment and vehicles to support the additional 
deployment.

 Review the ongoing operation to ensure the best value in terms of 
investment in mechanical equipment.

 Development of a local higher standard specification for rating our 
streets ready for implementation after the initial 3 months initiative.

1.4 The financial appraisal to determine the required level of investment has been 
based on quotations provided through soft market testing and will be subject 
to the final tender prices. Therefore there could be some variation in the split 
of the costings as shown below but in all aspects, value for money shall be 
secured through utilising robust procurement routes and accessing market 
tested frameworks where possible.

1.5 Revenue Estimates

1.6 Capital Estimates

2017/18 
(additional 
funding)

One off Short Term Big Clean 0
Additional ongoing investment £226,500
Total Additional Budget 
(Appendix B General Fund Capital 
Programme line 19)

£226,500

2017/18 
(additional 
funding)

One off Short Term Big Clean £450,000
Additional ongoing investment £211,000
Total Additional Budget 
(Appendix B Summary of General 
Fund Estimates) £661,000

Page - 52



1.7 The outcomes from the project will be reviewed during the programmed 
works. If, as expected, the project is successful in delivering the stated 
outcomes then Council will be asked to allocate further funding in future years 
in order to ensure the maintenance of the defined standard. The additional 
resources will be considered alongside other potential investment growth 
areas, budgetary pressures and anticipated available funding for 2018/19. The 
budgetary proposals for 2018/19 will be presented to Council in March 2018 
for Council tax setting purposes.

2. RISK AND MITIGATION

2.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Financial Risk There is a financial risk that the costs 

incurred in 2017/18 could be aborted if future 
funding (2018/19) is not secured. This would 
require disposal of purchased assets and 
reducing the workforce back to original 
levels. In order to mitigate this risk, options 
will be developed in order to accommodate 
the additional cost in future budgets

3. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

3.1 The proposal for the amendment to the budget does not affect individual 
characteristics and does not require an equality impact analysis.

4. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Not applicable

5. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

5.1 This is a large scale initiative and as such the financial implications of the 
proposal are material and require careful consideration. The costings in the 
report will constitute a significant variation to the current budget framework 
agreed 2017/18 in terms of both capital and revenue. A balanced budget has 
been achieved for the current year, therefore the short term option to fund the 
proposed in year investment is to utilise existing reserves. The proposed 
budget framework entries are shown in bold and italics at Appendix B.

5.2 It is recognised that utilising reserves is not sustainable going forward into the 
medium and longer term. Therefore, based on the current Council approved 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), the future investment must be 
considered against other already established budgets, future growth in income 
and further savings and efficiencies. Additional pressures would also need to 
be considered against these proposals when constructing a revised budget 

Page - 53



strategy for 2018/19 and beyond. At this stage the additional future years 
funding has not been included within the MTFS. Funding for future years will 
need to be considered once the local service standard has been defined and 
the ongoing cost implications are determined. Options to accommodate the 
ongoing increase in budgetary costs will need to be developed alongside 
other cost reductions, income generation, budgetary growth and pressures 
and consideration of future Council Tax levels.  

5.3 It is recognised that investing in the district, as detailed in the proposal, should 
have a positive impact on economic viability and therefore create overall 
wealth and prosperity. In future the investment could potentially offer income 
generation opportunities. 

6. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

6.1 Section 89(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on 
certain authorities, including District Councils, to ensure that their land (or land 
for which they are responsible) is, so far as is practicable, kept clear of litter 
and refuse. The Council should have regard to the Code of Practice on Litter 
and Refuse that acts as a practical guide to the discharge of these duties.

6.2 The in-year change to the budget framework for 2017-2018 is proposed to be 
approved by Council in accordance with Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules.

7. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

7.1 None

8. APPENDICES

Appendix A – ENV 660 
Appendix B – financial implications of changes to budget framework

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf

Page - 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf


 

 

      CABINET 
 

 

 
Report of: Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for the Environment 

 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Cabinet 
 
1st June 2017 

 
Big Clean (report no. ENV660) 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

Key Decision and Budget Framework Proposal 
 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Cllr Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for the Environment 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
Signed off by: 

 
Ian Yates – Executive Manager 
01476 406 201 – i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
Keith Rowe – Business Manager Street Scene  
01476 406 370 – k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director Environment and Property 
01476 406 058 – t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director Environment and Property 
Daren Turner – Strategic Director Corporate 
 

 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 
This report considers the benefits of investing in improving the attractiveness of the 
street scene in South Kesteven. Taking into account where we are now and where we 
would want to be, it identifies how a step change can be best achieved and what is 
required to maintain the higher standards going forward. It details the additional capital 
and revenue financial investments required. This report will be considered by the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their recommendations will be 
presented at this meeting of the Cabinet. 
 

 

Page - 55

mailto:i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
That Cabinet supports the following recommendations in order to achieve a step 
change in the attractiveness of the street scene throughout South Kesteven: 
 
 

1. That Cabinet recommends to Council that the 2017/18 budget framework is 

amended to include the investment of £661,000 revenue and £226,500 capital to 

deliver the “big clean” project. 

 

Subject to Council approval to 1 above: 

2. That a Big Clean initiative is undertaken over a 3 month period 

3. That the work specification is set to achieve a higher street standard i.e. removal 

of all weeds, washing of street furniture, removal of graffiti as detailed in the 

report 

4. That Members and officers develop a South Kesteven “street scene standard”  

5. That following a review of the outcomes from the project ongoing investment in 

the service is considered as growth during the 2018/19 budget process which will 

ensure the higher street standard is maintained 

6. That volunteers are actively encouraged and supported to contribute to the 

improvements 

7. As part of the big clean project funding, £15,000 is allocated to the community 

cleaner grant scheme to further promote locally resourced cleansing within 

district. 

8. That a communications strategy is developed and implemented to support the 

changes 

 
 
 

 
 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
1.1 The Council’s overriding objective is to encourage economic growth. A key 

element of this aim is the attractiveness of the District. As we are in competition 
with other towns and locations, we need to ensure we attain a higher standard 
of cleansing which appeals to investors, residents and visitors.   It is inevitable 
that it will require investment to achieve our goal, but that investment should, in 
turn, be rewarded by growth. 

 
1.2 Where are we now? 

The level of attractiveness across the District varies. Whilst litter is not a major 
problem (our scores against the national standard are good), the overall 
appearance of our streets could be described as “average” as the levels of 
weed growth and associated detritus have increased.   Many pavements, road 
signs and items of street furniture are unclean and we have had some 
complaints describing our town centres as becoming “grubby”. Attractiveness is 
valued by our residents, with the public regularly ranking clean streets in their 
top 5 issues of importance. 
 

 

Page - 56



 

 

1.3 Where do we want to be? 
If we are to compete, and attract investment, we need to deliver and maintain a 
significant improvement in the appearance of the District. To achieve this we 
need to engage with our communities, the general public and local businesses 
to harness the volunteer network. We should develop our own District standard 
to measure our performance against rather than defaulting to lower national 
standards. Local authorities are now starting to market themselves as having 
town centres that provide a very high standard of visitor experience: the 
appearance and cleanliness is just one key element of this.  This is about the 
basics of having a clean environment into which people will take pride and 
invest. A simple measure of success will be introduced if the project goes 
ahead. 

 
1.4 The challenge/key issues 

In delivering an improved standard, the key cost driver is the size of the District, 
with 365 square miles to be treated, and the reality that our existing operational 
service is not designed to deliver the full scope of the new standard to which we 
aspire.  Whilst lower national standards are achieved, to improve on this value 
for money investment will be a top priority ensuring our resources are utilised to 
maximum effect and efficiency.  Opportunities for utilising volunteers and Town 
and Parish Councils will need to be taken. In such a large area the local 
knowledge of these organisations, residents and our Ward Members will be key 
to targeting our resources wisely. Working jointly with partner organisations who 
have their own responsibilities such as Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
Highways is required. 

 

1.5 What do we need to do? 
In order to deliver the required improvements a number of options have been 
developed and evaluated by the Street Care Services Team. The starting point 
is an agreed works specification includes: 

 

 removal of weed growth 

 removal of litter and detritus 

 removal of fly tipping 

 removal of graffiti in the public realm 

 cleansing of road signs and street furniture 

 removal of graffiti/repainting of utility cabinets as required 

 washing of pavements i.e. moss and bird faeces 

 cutting back overhanging vegetation to keep footpaths clear 

 cutting back path overgrowth as a long term objective 

 
1.6 Preferred and Recommended Option 

Taking into account the evaluation options detailed in paragraph 2 below, the 
preferred option is a hybrid (option 2 with an ongoing commitment to the higher 
standard) delivering investment in both the short term and longer term. The 
proposal is for: 

 

 A £661,000 investment in both short term and longer term teams (5 in 

total) during  2017/18 consisting of: 

Page - 57



 

 

 An initial revenue investment of £450,000 providing 4 teams, 

targeting identified areas over a 3 month period, bringing the 

District to a high standard of appearance. 

 A further revenue in year investment of £211,000 funding an 

additional team to support the delivery of the higher standard on 

an ongoing basis. Alongside the introduction of permanent 

cleansing operatives based in the Deepings and Bourne.  

 A further capital investment in year of £226,000 for the purchase of the 

necessary equipment and vehicles to support the additional 

deployment (the annualised equivalent cost of this initial outlay is 

approximately £39,300 per year based upon the life of the vehicles 

and plant). 

 An ongoing additional annual investment beyond the current year of 

£439,000 in revenue, and £101,500 in capital in order to maintain the 

new higher standards and introduce additional support in the Southern 

area of the district (the annualised equivalent cost of this capital outlay 

is equivalent to £21,100 per year based upon the life of the vehicles 

and plant). 

 Review the ongoing operation to ensure the best value in terms of 

investment in mechanical equipment. 

 Development of a local higher standard specification for rating our 

streets ready for implementation after the initial 3 months initiative. 

 

 
  
1.7  Mechanical Plant 

The project will utilise a significant level of mechanical plant together with 
additional staffing resources. This will be highly visible and help raise 
awareness of the project with the public and highlight the levels of investment 
being made on their behalf. The benefits of using mechanical plant are the 
improved efficiencies and far higher levels of final finish. It is envisaged that the 
initial 3 month cleanse will utilise: 

 

 4 large mechanical road sweepers 

 8 small mechanical pavement sweepers 

 8 mechanical weed rippers 

 4 vehicles with tow behind pressure washers  

 8 caged vehicles 
 

Products available in the market will be evaluated to ensure that we equip 
ourselves to maintain our streets as cost effectively as possible. 

 
1.8 Communications and Volunteers 
 

The success of the project will, in part, rely on the communications with the 
general public, other local bodies and business sector. Information will be 
gathered from Ward Members, Parish and Town Councils, residents and local 
businesses to allow our resources to be targeted in the most effective way. 
Raising awareness of the project and the reasons for it are key in promoting the 

Page - 58



 

 

District and achieving essential levels of public and business sector support. 
Input from community volunteers will be sought to supplement the Councils 
service offer. The Community Cleaner Grant Scheme could also be reviewed to 
evaluate the potential impact of more widespread up-take by local parish 
councils. 

 
1.9 Project Timeline 
 

If the proposals contained in this report are supported by the Cabinet this 
initiative could commence during the summer months of this year. The following 
table details the potential milestones that could be incorporated into the project. 
 

 

Stage Date 

Environment - Overview and Scrutiny 23rd May 2017 

Tender specifications prepared and issued 24th  May 2017 

Communications plan drafted 26th May 2017 

Cabinet (budget and project proposal) 1st June 2017 

Tenders received 2nd June 2017 

Council (for budget approval)  15th June 2017 

Comms plan initiated  16th June 2017 

Tenders evaluated 19th June 2017 

Contracts awarded 30th June 2017 

Project Start – induction/training 31st July 2017 

Operations commence  9th August 2017 

Ends 27th October 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 The main variables influencing the options are the time taken to deliver the one 
off project, the locations, the number of streets to be treated and the ability to 
maintain the higher standard on an ongoing basis. Each option has been 
evaluated against the level of impact, the levels of risk and the perceived value 
for money against the level of investment. The key options considered were: 

 
Option 1 - Undertake a big clean of entire district within a 6 week period 

 

Option 2 - An intelligence based, targeted approach 
 

Option 3 – General increase in the ongoing level of service provision 
 
2.2 The evaluation of the above options is detailed in Appendix 1. This 

demonstrates that Option 1 requires large scale investment for a one off return 
and Option 3 provides minimal immediate step change, leaving Option 2 
providing the best balance in terms of value for money and impact but no 
ongoing solution.  

 
 

Page - 59



 

 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 The project will be subject to the Council’s accepted rules in respect of budget 

approvals and relevant procurement rules.  Lincolnshire Procurement will assist 
with the preparatory work to support the procurement of equipment and other 
resources once the Council is clear about its preferred option and the local 
standard it wishes to deliver. Framework agreements may be utilised.  

 
3.2 The financial assessments have been based on quotations provided through 

soft market testing and are subject to the final tender prices. The initial 
estimated costs are as shown below: 

 
 
 
3.3  Revenue Estimates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 Capital Estimates 
 

 2017/18 
(additional 
funding) 

Projected 
2018/19 costs 

One off Short Term Big Clean   

Additional ongoing investment £226,500 £101,500 

Total Additional Budget 
Requirement 

£226,500 £101,500 

Equivalent annualised costs  £39,000 £21,100 

 
 
 

 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  

4.1 Delivery of the recommended option will utilise project management 
methodologies.  It is intended that project management and supervision will be 
supported from within the Council’s existing resources; back filling as required. 
The normal cleansing routines will continue to be delivered in accordance with 
the existing plans. There are risks and issues associated with the 
recommendations which will need to be managed and mitigated wherever 
possible.  For example the project is highly dependent on the availability of 
labour from local employment agencies and equipment from specialist rental 

 2017/18 
(additional 
funding) 

Projected 
2018/19 costs 

One off Short Term Big Clean £450,000 0 

Additional ongoing investment £211,000 £439,000 

Total Additional Budget 
Requirement (in comparison with 
2017/18 approved budget) 

£661,000 £439,000 

Page - 60



 

 

companies. Whist every endeavour has been made to assess availability it is 
only on the placing of orders that any clarity can be gained on delivery dates.  

 
4.2 One key limiting factor is the speed at which weeds can be removed. Research 

has been undertaken which has identified the best mechanical weed ripper 
equipment readily available. These have been used to assist in the evaluation 
as to the levels of overall resources required.   Some time and motion studies 
alongside random sampling to measure the levels of weed growth have allowed 
assessments to be made, which have then been applied to the overall 3 million 
plus metres of kerb lines. Weed spraying is now less and less effective due to 
the reduction in frequency of treatments carried out by Lincolnshire County 
Council (LCC) and the reduced concentrations of some chemicals. LCC 
Highways have agreed to align their weed spraying operations with the Districts 
mechanical removal programme to offer the most enduring solution. Similarly 
road gullies that are identified as needing attention will be addressed by LCC. It 
may also be necessary to utilise road closure orders to assist in freeing up 
streets ready for a deep cleanse in heavily parked areas. 

 
 

Category Risk Action / Controls 

Medium for preferred 
option 

These are detailed in Appendix 2 of this 
report 

 
 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY) 
  

If any part of the proposals require the consideration of road closure or other 
action which may impact individuals, an equality analysis will be carried out to 
determine the impact on those with protected characteristics and how any 
negative impact can be mitigated.   

  
 
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
Clean attractive environments can encourage positive behaviours particularly in 
respect of fly-tipping and littering. 

  
  
 
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 
The financial implications of this proposal are significant and require careful 
consideration. The costings in the report will constitute a significant variation to 
the current budget framework agreed 2017/18 in terms of both capital and 
revenue. As a balanced budget has been achieved for the current year, the only 
short term option to fund the proposed in year investment is to utilise existing 
reserves.  
 
As stated, utilising reserves is not sustainable going forward. Therefore, based 
on the current Council approved Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), the 
future investment must be considered against other already established 
budgets, future growth in income and further savings and efficiencies. Additional 

Page - 61



 

 

pressures would also need to be considered against these proposals when 
constructing a revised budget strategy for 2018/19 and beyond. At this stage 
the additional future years funding has not been included within the MTFS. If 
funding for future years is to be considered, then options will need to be 
developed alongside other budgetary growth and pressures, to determine how 
the additional costs can be accommodated.  These options will include 
consideration of future Council Tax levels, identifying opportunities to generate 
income to offset costs and reducing costs elsewhere in the budget framework.   
 
However it is recognised that investing in the district as, detailed in the 
proposal, should have a positive impact on the economic viability and therefore 
create overall wealth and prosperity. Therefore the investment could potentially 
offer income generation opportunities in the future.  
 
There is a financial risk that the costs incurred in 2017/18 could be aborted if 
future funding is not secured. These will include plant equipment and staffing, 
and would require disposal of purchased assets and reducing the workforce 
back to original levels. 
 
It is recommended that the Cabinet review the outcomes of the initiative, in 
order to inform the 2018/19 budget process. 

 
 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

 
Section 89(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on certain 
authorities, including District Councils, to ensure that their land (or land for 
which they are responsible) is, so far as is practicable, kept clear of litter and 
refuse.   The Council should, have regard to the Code of Practice on Litter and 
Refuse that acts as a practical guide to the discharge of these duties 
 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
  

None 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
  

Appendix 1 – Option appraisal 
 Appendix 2 – Risk log  
 
  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2
21087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf 
 
 
 
 

Page - 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf


 

 

Options Appraisal - APPENDIX 1 
 
Option appraisal  Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

 Significant 6 week clean up covering all 
areas 

Intelligence based targeted clean over 
3 months 

Investment in ongoing service 

  39 teams fully equipped 

 Equipment hired in 

 160 agency staff 

 Project managed internally 

 Backfilling for normal service 
operation 

 Significant volunteer comms 

 4 teams over 12 weeks 

 Ability to size according to 
priorities 

 40 agency staff 

 Project managed internally 

 Backfilling as required 

 Significant volunteer comms 

 3 teams permanently 
recruited 

 Cover whole area over 52 
weeks 

 24 full time employees 

Cost v value  £1.1m one off cost (minimum) 

 High risk in terms of delivery 
within budget 

 High cost v value achieved 

 Public perception impact 
significant 

 No ongoing investment to 
maintain standards 

 Comms impact significant with 
high volunteer take up 

 £450k one off cost 

 Medium risk in terms of 
delivering within budget 

 Medium cost v value achieved 

 Public perception significant 

 No ongoing investment to 
maintain standards 

 Comms impact significant with 
high volunteer take up 

 £600k annual cost 

 Low risk in terms of 
delivering within budget 

 Medium cost v higher value 
achieved 

 Public perception less 
significant 

 Ongoing investment to 
maintain standards 

 Comms impact and volunteer 
take up less. 

Cost v perception (vfm)  High costs 

 High visibility  

 High comms demand 

 Value for money questionable 

 High risk if areas missed 

 Lower cost 

 Medium to high visibility 

 Extended demand on comms 

 Higher value for money (less 
wasteful) 

 Medium cost 

 Lower visibility 

 Long term demand on 
comms 

 Lower perception of value 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age - 63



 

 

Risk Log - APPENDIX 2  

Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Health and safety Operational 
environment 
within the public 
realm 

Full risk assessments 
for each task and 
comprehensive 
training through 
induction period 

Injury or damage to 
persons/property 
Negative PR 
Increased costs 

Ensuring the welfare 
of our 
employees/operatives 
and the public is 
paramount. 

Low Low Low 

Insufficient 
Budgeted 
Funding 

Initial data was 
flawed. 
Council do not 
approve funding 
 

Sampling took place 
over the 365 square 
miles and that data 
was used as basis for 
calculation. 
Allow for a financial 
contingency of 10% 

Insufficient funding 
to complete the 
whole task 

Contingency fund to 
be considered 

High Medium/ 
Low 

Medium/ 
Low 

Initial data was 
flawed 

Times did not 
allow for a 
comprehensive 
survey of the 
area. Sampling 
and knowledge of 
processes has 
been used but 
also relies on 
estimations 

Sampling took place 
over the 365 square 
miles and that data 
was used as basis for 
calculation 

All the areas not 
covered in the 
timescale 

Could impact on all 
aspects of the 
scheme: insufficient 
funds, equipment, 
staff and time.  

High Medium Medium 

Agencies unable 
to provide 
sufficient staffing 

Local agencies 
have a finite list of 
casual workers 

Agencies have been 
alerted as to the 
requirements but we 
are unable to provide 
orders until such time 
as appropriate 
budgets are in place 

Insufficient numbers 
of staff will restrict 
the numbers of 
teams that can be 
deployed into the 
field, this will either, 
extend the period of 
the exercise or will 
stop it entirely  

Consider extending 
time to allow for 
reduced staffing levels 

High Medium N/A 

Agency prices 
are 
underestimated 

Budget 
insufficient  

3 estimates obtained Need additional 
funding or reduce 
the scope. 

 Low Low N/A 
 
 
 

P
age - 64



 

 

Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Agency Staff fail 
to attend work as 
required 

Local agencies 
have been asked 
to manage their 
staff attendance 
and to replace 
any who do not 
turn up 

If staff do not turn up, 
teams will have to be 
rearranged so the 
maximum of full 
teams can be 
deployed 

As above  High Medium/ 
High 

N/A 

Agency do not 
provide the same 
staff on a daily 
basis 

Although same 
people will be 
requested, it is 
possible that they 
do not attend 
each day 

This will mean that 
additional training will 
have to be carried out 

This will delay the 
service due to staff 
not being available 
for work 

 High Medium/ 
High 

N/A 

Suppliers unable 
to provide 
sufficient 
vehicles, plant 
and machinery 
for hire 

Initial contact with 
various suppliers 
has been 
relatively positive 
but all stated that 
until orders are 
placed they 
cannot 
guarantee. 

Options for 
cancellation, extended 
period of works or 
changing method 
would need 
consideration 

Insufficient numbers 
of Vehicles / Plant / 
Machinery will 
restrict the numbers 
of teams that can be 
deployed into the 
field, this will either, 
extend the period of 
the exercise or will 
stop it entirely  

 High Medium/ 
Low 

N/A 

Weed growth Whilst we will 
remove all weeds 
at the time of 
passing, 
additional weed 
growth may be 
visible some time 
afterwards 

Work with LCC to 
weed spray 4 – 6 
weeks afterwards or 
to fund the weed 
spraying ourselves. 
Regular cleansing 
teams to ensure 
weeds maintained in 
town centres etc 

Too many weeds will 
detract from the 
street scene 

Weeds are the 
province of LCC but 
too much additional 
weed growth will undo 
all of the good work 
on the streets. Or we 
undertake the weed 
spray rather than LCC 

Medium/ 
Low 

Medium/ 
Low 

Medium/ 
Low 

  

P
age - 65



 

 

Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Insufficient 
Supervision / 
Management 

Without 
supervision 
teams may not 
work quickly 
enough, may not 
work thoroughly 
enough 

Additional supervision 
funded through 
project 

Jobs not being done 
correctly or taking 
too long to complete 

 Medium Low Low 

Lack of 
communications 

Contact needs to 
be maintained 
with each team 

Each team leader to 
be issued with a 
council (basic) phone 

Jobs not being done 
correctly or taking 
too long to complete 

 Medium Low Low 

Insufficient small 
plant available to 
purchase 

Suppliers may 
have to send for 
additional units 
from 
manufacturers, 
which may take 
time  

Use different suppliers 
to provide equipment 

Insufficient numbers 
will result in a 
delayed start 

 Medium Low Low 

Levels of spend 
require time 
consuming 
procurement 
processes 

Required to 
adhere to 
competition rules 
and VFM 
procurement 

Use of Framework 
Agreements 

Delayed start  High Low Low 

Ongoing funding 
for future years is 
not secured. 

The MTFS does 
not include the 
significant 
financial 
investment being 
proposed and 
cannot be 
accommodated 
without significant 
reductions in 
costs elsewhere 
in the Council’s 
budgets or 
significant income 
generation. 

Council to consider 
options to secure 
funding 

Financial risk to the 
17/18 investment 

 Low High High 

P
age - 66



 

 

Step change not 
made  

Without a one off 
initial investment 
the change 
across 365 
square miles may 
not be achieved 
in a short time 
period 

Look to an option 
which provides 
enough resource to 
make the change 

Areas remain at a 
lower standard for 
long periods of time 

 Low Low High 

 
 

P
age - 67



SUMMARY OF GENERAL FUND ESTIMATES 2017/18 Appendix B

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Original Estimate Indicative Indicative

Base Base Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Priority Focus
Growth 523 451 579 444
Environment 6,380 7,468 6,944 7,065
Culture 2,884 3,141 3,175 3,294
Housing 1,088 1,103 1,147 1,188
Corporate 4,551 4,454 4,619 4,889
NET COST OF SERVICES 15,426 16,617 16,464 16,880

Interest and Investment Income (185) (157) (131) (116)

Interest Payable 12 9 0 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 159 153 147 142

Depreciation Charged to Revenue Accounts (3,028) (3,692) (3,872) (4,059)

Revenue Contribution to Capital 500 385 385 385

Local Council Tax Support Scheme Grant 72 43 22 0

Movement on Reserves

     -Net Movement in General Fund Specific Reserves (553) (917) (639) (882)

BUDGET REQUIREMENT - GENERAL FUND 12,403 12,441 12,376 12,350
(9,673) (8,690)

Revenue Support Grant (1,700) (957) (492) 0
Business Rates Grant (4,060) (3,975) (4,066) (4,204)
Pooling Gain (274) (166) (154) 0
Rural Grant (293) (236) (182) (236)
Reserve Funding (136) (962) (290) (465)
Collection Fund (Surplus)/ Deficit 632 709 0 0

TOTAL FUNDING (exc Council Tax)- GENERAL FUND (5,831) (5,587) (5,184) (4,905)

DISTRICT COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT (EXCL PARISHES) 6,572 6,854 7,192 7,445

SKDC Budget Requirement 6,000 6,258 6,565 6,797
Bourne Special Expense Area 28 29 31 32
Deepings Special Expense Area 14 14 15 16
Grantham Special Expense Area 449 469 492 508
Langtoft Special Expense Area 8 8 9 9
Stamford Special Expense Area 73 76 80 83
Parish Precepts 1,476 1,576 1,608 1,640
COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT (INCL PARISHES) 8,048 8,430 8,800 9,085

Band D Properties on which charges are based 45,440.4 46,119.4 46,811.2 47,513.4

Council Tax Band Charges inc SEA's 2017/18 Council Tax Band Charges exc SEA's 2017/18
Band A £99.08 £90.45
Band B £115.59 £105.53
Band C £132.11 £120.60
Band D £148.62 £135.68
Band E £181.65 £165.83
Band F £214.67 £195.98
Band G £247.70 £226.13
Band H £297.24 £271.36

Page - 68



GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME Appendix B

2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Description Forecast Indicative Updated Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative

Outturn Base Base Base Base Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Growth
Town Centre Development

1        St Peter's Hill Redevelopment 310 - 4,530 - - - -
2  Shop front scheme 130 163 130 130 130 - -
3 Serviced Land 220 - - - - - -
4 Property Investment Strategy - 500 5,000 - - - -
5 Local Authority Controlled Company - 2,800 - - - -

660 663 12,460 130 130 - -
Housing

6 Essential Home Grant Assistance 500 150 274 150 150 150 150
7 Disabled Facilities Grant 100 - 376 - - - -

600 150 650 150 150 150 150
Culture
Provision for Existing Assets

8          Grantham Council Offices - LV Panel - - - - - - -
9          Meres Leisure Centre Improvements - 3G Pitch 160 - - - - - -

10          Stamford Arts Centre - Theatre Seating 20 - - - - - -
11          Meres Leisure Centre Equipment 12 - - - - - -
12          Stamford Leisure Centre - Replace HWS Calorifiers 15 - - - - - -
13          Bourne Leisure Centre - Replace HWS Calorifiers - 40 - - - - -
14 Wyndham Park Improvement Works - 853 358 119 - - -

207 893 358 119 - - -

Enviornment
Waste Management

15        Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 185 161 180 525 502 825 130
16        Vehicle Replacement Programme 380 502 735 326 366 55 395
17        Pool Car Vehicles - - 124 128 - - -
18        Wheelie Bin Replacements 133 111 111 112 113 114 115
19        Big Clean Project 226

698 774 1,376 1,091 981 994 640

Corporate
20 Customer Access Strategy (telephony upgrade) 28 - - - - - -
21 Customer Relationship & Document Access Strategy 80 - - - - - -
22 Financial System Upgrade - - 50 - - - -
23  Sandbox Firewall - - 26 - - - -
24  ICT Infrastructure 64 - - - - - -

172 - 76 - - - -

25 TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2,337 2,480 14,920 1,490 1,261 1,144 790

Page - 69



GENERAL FUND CAPITAL FINANCING STATEMENT Appendix B

2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Description Forecast Indicative Updated Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative

Outturn Base Base Base Base Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 Growth 660 663 12,460 130 130 - - #
2 Housing 600 150 650 150 150 150 150
3 Culture 207 893 358 119 - - -
4 Environment 698 774 1,376 1,091 981 994 640
5 Corporate 172 - 76 - - - -

6 TOTAL - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2,337 2,480 14,920 1,490 1,261 1,144 790

GENERAL FUND FINANCED BY:

7 Supported Borrowing - - - - - - -

8 Unsupported Borrowing - - - - - - -

9 Specific Reserve - Revenue 226

10 Specific Reserve - Capital - 1,019 1,067 49 811 - -

11 Specific Reserve - St Peters Hill 310 - 4,530 - - - -

12 Usable Capital Receipts 698 - 66 803 - 759 405

13 Capital Grants and Contributions
     - Disabled Facility Grant 376 - 376 - - - -
     - Hertiage Lottery Funding - 768 244 177 - - -

14 Direct Revenue Financing
     - Cemetery Works - SEA 5 5 5 6 - - -
     - Wyndham Park Fountains - SEA 5 5 5 5 - - -
     - Wyndham Park - SEA - 55 60 - - - -
     - Mere's Leisure Centre 160 - - - - - -
     - S106 Monies 45 15 15 - - - -
     - Transformation Reserve 80 15 - - - - -
     - ICT reserve - - 76 - - - -
     - Shop Front Scheme 65 98 65 65 65 - -
     - Local Priorities Reserve 93 - 7,800 - - - -
     - Contribution from Revenue 500 500 385 385 385 385 385

15 TOTAL - GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2,337 2,480 14,920 1,490 1,261 1,144 790

Page - 70



Appendix B

GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT
Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast
Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance 

as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at 
31 March 2016 in year 31 March 2017 in year 31 March 2018 in year 31 March 2019 in year 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue Reserves
    Service Specific Funds 76 (76) - - - - - - -

    Capacity Building, Priority Setting and 
    Service Improvement Reserve

Events and Festivals - Gravity, Deepings & Georgian 359 (24) 335 (100) 235 (120) 115 (115) -
Apprenticeships 100 - 100 (22) 78 (22) 56 (20) 36
Broadband infrastructure 550 - 550 - 550 - 550 0 550
Waste & Recycling Initatives 156 - 156 - 156 - 156 0 156
Support for Corporate Reviews 53 - 53 - 53 - 53 0 53
Business Support 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 0 100
ICT investment 300 (45) 255 (96) 159 - 159 - 159
Transformation Programme 829 (80) 749 (21) 728 (22) 706 - 706
BR and CTS volatility Reserve 1,729 (135) 1,594 (663) 931 214 1,145 (339) 806
Maintenance 134 (134) - - - - - - -
Economic Development & Growth 150 30 180 (60) 120 (120) - - -
Tourism 50 (10) 40 - 40 - 40 - 40
Building Control 37 (37) - - - - - - -

    Community Based Initiatives 
Hardship & Welfare 50 - 50 - 50 - 50 - 50
Future Service Improvement Reserve 1,347 (501) 846 (47) 799 (47) 752 (49) 703
Community Fund 239 (89) 150 (90) 60 (60) - - -

6,183 (1,025) 5,158 (1,099) 4,059 (177) 3,882 (523) 3,359

    Local Priorities Reserve 9,752 2,148 11,900 (5,511) 6,389 2,255 8,644 2,088 10,732
    Invest to Save 358 0 358 0 358 - 358 - 358
    Insurance Reserve 350 (220) 130 0 130 - 130 - 130
    Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 186 32 218 (69) 149 (70) 79 (71) 8
                               - Current Employees 1,513 462 1,975 (101) 1,874 (727) 1,147 (847) 300
    Building Control (91) 4 (87) 6 (81) 15 (66) 23 (43)
    Special Expense Areas Reserve 161 16 177 (39) 138 51 189 71 260

Total General Revenue Reserves 18,488 1,341 19,829 (6,813) 13,016 1,347 14,363 741 15,104

Government Grants Received 517 (219) 298 (62) 236 (32) 204 - 204

Working Balance 1,912 (912) 1,000 - 1,000 - 1,000 - 1,000

Total Revenue Reserves 20,917 210 21,127 (6,875) 14,252 1,315 15,567 741 16,308

Capital Reserve
Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 200 (200) - - - - - -
General Fund Capital Reserve 2,008 (1,941) 67 (29) 38 977 1,015 (811) 204
St Peter's Hill Development 889 3,641 4,530 (4,530) - - - - -
Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,540 271 2,811 749 3,560 (603) 2,957 - 2,957

Total Capital Reserves 5,637 1,771 7,408 (3,810) 3,598 374 3,972 (811) 3,161

Total General Fund Reserves 26,554 1,981 28,535 (10,685) 17,850 1,689 19,539 (70) 19,469

P
age - 71



COUNCIL

Report of: Chief Executive

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

15 June 2017

Appointments to Committees, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and Panels of the Council (Ref: LDS217)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Cabinet Member, Business Transformation and Commissioning

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Jo Toomey (Principal Democracy Officer) Tel: 01476 406152
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Lucy Youles (Executive Manager, Corporate) Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Beverly Agass (Chief Executive) Tel: 01476 406080
E-mail: b.agass@southkesteven.gov.uk

SUMMARY

Following the Council’s Annual General Meeting on 20 April 2017 a new political group 
has been formed (the SK Independents). The creation of the new group has changed the 
political balance of the Council and consequently adjustments are required to bring 
appointments to committees in line with the revised proportionality set out in Appendix 1 
of this report.

Page - 72

Agenda Item 9



RECOMMENDATION

1. That the following adjustments are made so that the Council’s appointments to 
committees are politically balanced in accordance with the proportionality set out 
in Appendix 1 of this report: 

 Development Management (Subject to Committee decision at Agenda 
item 6.2) Committee: replacement of one Conservative Member with an 
SK Independent Member

 Constitution Committee: no change
 Governance and Audit Committee: replacement of Labour Member with 

an SK Independent Member
 Licensing Committee: replacement of one Conservative Member with an 

SK Independent Member
 Overview and Scrutiny Committees: Replacement of Labour Member on 

each Committee with an SK Independent Member
 Shareholder Committee: no change
 Chief Executive’s Remuneration Panel (no requirement for change 

subject to decision at Agenda item 6.2): replacement of one 
Conservative Member with an SK Independent Member. This change will 
not be required if Council approve the recommendations from the 
Constitution Committee relating to the creation of an Employment 
Committee.

 (Subject to decision at Agenda item 6.2) Appeals Panel: replacement of 
one Conservative Member with an SK Independent Member

2. Subject to the approval of the recommendations from the Constitution Committee at 
item 6.2 on the Agenda, appoint Members to the Employment Committee in 
accordance with recommendation 2 made in report LDS221.

3. That Councillor Dilks replaces Councillor Morgan as the Council’s representative on 
the Development Control Committee

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 introduced 
statutory requirements that, where a relevant authority has a membership 
divided into different political groups, it must ensure that appointments reflect 
the overall proportion as that in which the Council as a whole is divided. Those 
appointments to which the rules of political balance apply are:

 
 Ordinary committees or subcommittees of the authority
 Advisory committees and any subcommittees appointed by an advisory 

committee
 Specified prescribed bodies where at least three seats have to be filled by 

the relevant authority.

Page - 73



1.2 The legislation also requires that in appointing members on a politically 
proportional basis, it should, as far as possible conform with the following 
principles:

(a) That not all seats are appointed to the same political group
(b) That a political group with an overall council majority gets a majority of 

seats allocated
(c) Subject to (a) and (b) that the total number of seats each political group 

has on all ordinary committees is in proportion to that group’s share of the 
total council elected membership

(d) Subject to (a) and (c) that each political group has the same proportion of 
seats as it holds on the council as a whole

1.3 Under these regulations, to constitute a political group, members have to sign to 
state that they wish to be treated as a member of a political group and to inform 
the Chief Executive who the leader of that group is to be. The Regulations mean 
that members who do not align themselves to a political group (i.e. non-aligned 
members) do not have any right to be appointed to any Council Committee. The 
decision made by members regarding their membership of any group on this 
Council is entirely unrelated to any membership of any national political party or 
to any statement on their nomination form/ballot paper.

1.4 Since the annual meeting of the Council on 20 April 2017 the Chief Executive has 
been notified of the creation of a new group, the SK Independents, which has 4 
members. As a result, the political balance of the Council has been recalculated 
(appendix 1) and the following consequent adjustments are required:

 Development Management (subject to decision at Agenda item 6.2)  
Committee: replacement of one Conservative Member with an SK 
Independent Member

 Constitution Committee: no change
 Governance and Audit Committee: replacement of Labour Member with 

an SK Independent Member
 Licensing Committee: replacement of one Conservative Member with an 

SK Independent Member
 Overview and Scrutiny Committees: Replacement of Labour Member 

on each Committee with an SK Independent Member
 Shareholder Committee: no change
 Chief Executive’s Remuneration Panel (no requirement for change 

subject to decision at Agenda item 6.2): replacement of one 
Conservative Member with an SK Independent Member. This proposal is 
made subject to the approval by Council of the recommendations made 
by the Constitution Committee relating to the provision of an Employment 
Committee.

 (Subject to decision at Agenda item 6.2)Appeals Panel: replacement 
of one Conservative Member with an SK Independent Member

1.5 The Constitution Committee has considered an amendment to the Constitution 
to include the provision of an Employment Committee as a committee of the 
Council to carry out the functions set out in Report LDS216 to the Constitution 
Committee and Report LDS219 which is included in the agenda to this Council 
meeting (15.06.17) at item 6(2). The Constitution Committee recommends cross 

Page - 74



party presentation on the Employment Committee of 4 Conservative Group 
Members, 1 Independent Group Member, I SK Independent Group Member and 
I Labour Group Member. If approved, the political balance requirements will not 
be met and an unanimous vote of the Council will be required. 

1.6 When making appointments, there are a number of factors that must be taken 
into consideration:

 In order to demonstrate a robust and effective scrutiny process, no 
member of the Cabinet may sit on an Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 The membership of each of the Chief Executive’s Panels must include at 
least one member of the Cabinet, with the Leader sitting on the Chief 
Executive’s Performance Panel

1.7 The Labour Group has also given notice that it wishes to update its appointed 
member on the Development Control (Management) Committee from Councillor 
Charmaine Morgan to Councillor Phil Dilks.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council must either comply with the provisions of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 and apply the principles of political balance as set out in 
Appendix 1 or agree to make alternative arrangements.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 No significant risks were identified in the preparation of this report.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 No financial comments arising as a result of this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 In making appointments to its committees and panels, the Council is required to 
comply with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. These set 
out requirements relating to political balance and the application of this principle 
to prescribed categories of meeting and makes provision for alternative 
arrangements. To agree alternative arrangements, no members of the authority 

Page - 75



present at the meeting may vote against the alternative arrangements. This 
means that abstentions would not defeat the vote.

8.2 If no alternative arrangements can be agreed, the requirements to address 
political balance must be put in place. 

8.3 If the membership of the Employment Committee is agreed as proposed in 
agenda item 6(2) its composition would not comply with political balance 
requirements and therefore a unanimous vote to agree alternative 
arrangements would be required. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix 1 – political balance calculations

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-
balance-on-committees-etc)

 Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made)

 Report LDS219 to Constitution Committee – 22.05.17
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=497&MI
d=3423&Ver=4 

Page - 76

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=497&MId=3423&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=497&MId=3423&Ver=4


Appendix 1

Political balance of the Council   

Group Seats %
Conservative 42 75%
Independent 6 11%
SK Independent 4 7%
Labour 3 5%
Unaligned 1 N/A

Committees of the Council      

Development 
Control(Management) Committee Constitution Committee

Total seats 15 Total seats 5

Group Proportional 
entitlement

Entitlement 
rounded Group Proportional 

entitlement
Entitlement 

rounded
Conservative 11.25 11 Conservative 3.75 4
Independent 1.607142857 2 Independent 0.535714286 1
SK Independent 1.071428571 1 SK Independent 0.357142857 0
Labour 0.803571429 1 Labour 0.27 0
Unaligned N/A N/A Unaligned N/A N/A
  15   5

Governance & Audit Committee Licensing Committee

Total seats 7 Total seats 11

Group Proportional 
entitlement

Entitlement 
rounded Group Proportional 

entitlement
Entitlement 

rounded
Conservative 5.25 5 Conservative 8.25 8
Independent 0.75 1 Independent 1.178571429 1
SK Independent 0.5 1 SK Independent 0.785714286 1
Labour 0.375 0 Labour 0.589285714 1
Unaligned N/A N/A Unaligned N/A N/A
  7   11

Page - 77



Overview & Scrutiny Committees  Shareholder Committee  

Total seats 7 Total seats 5

Group Proportional 
entitlement

Entitlement 
rounded Group Proportional 

entitlement
Entitlement 

rounded
Conservative 5.25 5 Conservative 3.75 4
Independent 0.75 1 Independent 0.535714286 1
SK Independent 0.5 1 SK Independent 0.357142857 0
Labour 0.375 0 Labour 0.267857143 0
Unaligned N/A N/A Unaligned N/A N/A
  7   5

Chief Executive Panels  

Total seats 3

Group Proportional 
entitlement

Entitlement 
rounded

Conservative 2.25 2
Independent 0.321428571 1
SK Independent 0.214285714 0
Labour 0.160714286 0
Unaligned N/A N/A
  3

Page - 78



COUNCIL

Report of: Leader of the Council
Councillor Matthew Lee

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

15 June 2017

Leader’s Report on Urgent Decisions (Ref: CAB022)

Decision
Proposal:

Legislative and Constitutional Requirement

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee
Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Jo Toomey – Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 406152
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Lucy Youles – Executive Manager, Corporate. 
Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Beverly Agass (Chief Executive) 
Tel: 01476 406080
E-mail: b.agass@southkesteven.gov.uk

SUMMARY

To inform Members of decisions taken by the Cabinet or by individual Cabinet Members 
under urgency provisions since the last report was made to Council on 22 September 
2016.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Council notes the report.

Page - 79

Agenda Item 10



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT;

1.1 In accordance with Part 5, Section 19 of the Local Authority (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012, the Leader of the Council is required to submit quarterly reports to the 
Council on decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members under 
the urgency provisions. The report should include the number of decisions so 
taken and a summary (subject to exemptions) of the matters in respect of which 
those decisions were taken. The Leader must submit at least one report 
annually to the Council.

1.2 Since the last report was brought to Council on 22 September 2016, one non-
key decision has been taken under urgency provisions.

1.3 An urgent non-key decision was made on 2 May 2017 by the Cabinet Member 
for Finance in respect of an exempt report CFM417. The Cabinet Member 
decided not to proceed with the implementation of a decision made by the 
Executive Member, Finance and IT on 21 March 2017 on exempt report PD055 
in connection with the Commercial Investment Strategy.

1.4 The reason for taking the decision under urgency provisions is detailed in 
exempt report CFM417. 

1.5 Both reports, PD055 and CFM417, were exempt under paragraphs 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because they 
related to the business affairs of the Council. Report CFM417 was also exempt 
under paragraph 5 of Schedule 12A because it contained information that was 
legally privileged. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This is a statutorily required report.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

5.1 Not applicable, this is a statutory report providing a summary of past activity.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

Page - 80



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report. Financial comments 
relating to the decision are detailed in report number CFM417.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 To comply with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Council’s 
Constitution, the Leader is required to make regular reports to Council on 
decisions taken using urgency provisions as detailed at Clauses 16.7.2 (key 
decisions) and 16.7.3 d) (non-key decisions). 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Exempt report number PD055 and decision notice (Councillors may request 
a copy of these documents from Democratic Services)

 Exempt report number CFM417 and decision notice (Councillors may 
request a copy of these documents from Democratic Services)

 Article 16.7.3 d) of the Council’s Constitution Decision making by 
individual members of the Executive: Urgent Non-key Decisions 
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3439/Public%20report
s%20pack%2006th-Mar-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10)

Page - 81

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3439/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Mar-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3439/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Mar-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10


COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

15 June 2017

Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting – 1 June 2017 (Ref: 
CAB23)

Decision
Proposal:

N/A

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee
Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Jo Toomey (Principal Democracy Officer) Tel: 01476 406152
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Lucy Youles (Executive Manager, Corporate) Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Beverly Agass (Chief Executive) Tel: 01476 4060
E-mail: b.agass@southkesteven.gov.uk

SUMMARY

The Cabinet met on 1 June 2017. The minutes of that meeting are attached to this 
report for Members’ information.

RECOMMENDATION

To note the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 June 2017.

Page - 82

Agenda Item 11



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement 
as established under the Local Government Act 2000. The Council adopted the 
strong Leader model under the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007.

1.2 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 set out the responsible body for different functions, specifically those 
functions that are not executive functions, those that may be determined by an 
authority’s executive and those functions that are not the sole responsibility of a 
Council’s executive. All other functions are, by default, executive functions and 
would therefore, under South Kesteven District Council’s arrangements, be 
determined by the Cabinet. The requirements of these Regulations mean that 
at its meetings, the Cabinet may make some decisions outright whilst in other 
instances it may make recommendations to Council.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Not applicable 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 No significant risks were identified in the preparation of this report.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 No financial comments arising as a result of this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded 
to inform Members of the deliberations at the meeting.

Page - 83



9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Cabinet minutes from 1 June 2017
 Cabinet report: Big Clean (Ref: ENV660)
 Non-key decision: Adoption of the Foston Neighbourhood Plan
 Non-key decision: Amendment to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

Page - 84



MEETING OF THE CABINET
1 JUNE 2017  - 2.00 PM – 3.05 PM

PRESENT:

Councillor Michael King
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Rosemary H Woolley
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

Councillor Matthew Lee - Chairman

Chief Executive (Beverly Agass)
Strategic Director Corporate Focus (Daren Turner)
Strategic Director Environment & Property (Tracey 
Blackwell)
Strategic Director Development & Growth (Steve Ingram)
Corporate Finance Manager (Richard Wyles)
Executive Manager Environment (Ian Yates) 
Executive Manager Corporate (Lucy Youles)
Business Manager Street Scene (Keith Rowe)
Cabinet Support Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

Non-Executive Members :  Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Neilson 

CO38.    APOLOGIES 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Robins. 

Page - 85



CO39.    RECORD OF DECISION(S) 

Noted. 

CO40.    DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

None disclosed. 

CO41.    BIG CLEAN 

Decision:

That the Cabinet supports the following recommendations in order to 
achieve a step change in the attractiveness of the street scene 
throughout South Kesteven:

1.  That Cabinet recommends to Council that the 2017/18 budget 
framework is amended to include the investment of £661,000 
revenue and £226,500 capital to deliver the “big clean” project.

Subject to the Council approving 1 above:

2. The Big Clean initiative is undertaken over a three month period.

3. The work specification is set to achieve a higher street standard 
i.e. removal of weeds, washing of street furniture, removal of 
graffiti as detailed in report ENV660.

4. That Members and Officers develop a South Kesteven “street 
scene standard”.

5. That following a review of the outcomes from the project ongoing 
investment in the service is considered as growth during the 
2018/19 budget process which will ensure the higher street 
standard is maintained.

6. That volunteers are actively encouraged and supported to 
contribute to the improvements.

7. As part of the big clean project funding, £15,000 is allocated to the 
community cleaner grant scheme to further promote locally 
resourced cleansing within the district.

8. That a communications strategy is developed and implemented to 
support the changes

Considerations/reasons for decision:

Page - 86



1) Report ENV660 from the Executive Member Environment.

2) The Council’s objective to encourage economic growth, a key element 
being the attractiveness of the District.

3) The public regularly ranked clean streets in their top five issues of 
importance.

4) The issue had been discussed at the recent Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee who had agreed with the proposed option set out in 
the report.

5) The need to deliver and maintain a significant improvement in the 
appearance of the District – to develop our own District standard to 
measure performance against rather than the default lower national 
standards.

6) The project would be subject to the Council’s accepted rules in respect 
of budget approvals and relevant procurement rules.

7) It was intended that the project management and supervision required 
would be supported from within the Council’s existing resources; back 
filling as required, all relevant issues such as health and safety and 
insurance would be adhered to.

8) The Cabinet to undertake a review of the outcomes of the initiative in 
order to inform the 2018/19 budget process.

9) Comments made by the Cabinet Member Environment about the need 
for any option considered to be value for money that the work 
undertaken to elevate the standard needed to be continued and 
maintained. The use of volunteers such as community groups, Parish 
and Town Councils were key to the project and would be actively 
encouraged to help and harness the information that they had.  The 
addition of a further team now and a future team in year two would add 
flexibility to enable a more fluid work flow rather than a reactive one.  

10)  Comments from the Chairman of the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee commending the forward thinking project.

11)  Comments from the Cabinet Member Economy and Development on 
the geography of the district and whether the proposed equipment could 
be used in a rural setting as well as an urban one (proposed equipment 
could be used in both) and also prioritization (addition of further work 
teams would add flexibility). Also the possibility of sponsorship of 
sections of road similar to what happened in America (issue would be 
looked into).

12)  Comments from the Cabinet Member Communications and 
Engagement that any review needed to be done effectively to improve 
the project going forward and make the district the “go to place” on how 
to do things properly. From a commercial perspective provide a better 

Page - 87



response to issues such as graffiti removal.

13) Comments from the Leader about managing the engagement with the 
volunteer element and how the resources in Customer Services could 
be utilized.

14) Comments from the Cabinet Member Major Projects about the need to 
address the state of the roundabouts particularly those coming into 
towns and perhaps looking again at sponsorship as had happened in the 
past through Lincolnshire County Council.  

15) Comments from the Cabinet Member Communities and Wellbeing who 
also referred to roundabouts in areas other than Grantham. Reference 
was also made to insurance and the Executive Manager Environment 
indicated that he would circulate to the Cabinet information about third 
party insurance in respect of Parish Councils.

16) Comments made about rivers which were not part of the project and 
were the responsibility of the Environment Agency.

17) Comments made about green spaces which there was a cross over with 
the propose project.

18) Comments made by the Cabinet Member Finance on the financial outlay 
and the budget implications both now and in future years.

Other Options Considered:

The main variables influencing the options were the time taken to deliver the 
one off project, the locations, the number of streets to be treated and the 
ability to maintain the higher standard on an ongoing basis. Each option had 
been evaluated against the level of impact, the levels of risk and the 
perceived value for money against the level of investment. The key options 
considered were:

Option 1 - Undertake a big clean of entire district within a 6 week period

Option 2 - An intelligence based, targeted approach

Option 3 – General increase in the ongoing level of service provision

The evaluation of the above options was detailed in Appendix 1 to Report 
ENV660. This demonstrates that Option 1 required large scale investment for 
a one off return and Option 3 provides minimal immediate step change, 
leaving Option 2 providing the best balance in terms of value for money and 
impact but no ongoing solution. 

 

Page - 88



CO42.    MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

No matters had been referred to Cabinet from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The first round of Overview and Scrutiny Committees had taken 
place where the remit and their work plans had been discussed. Once the 
remit had been agreed with each Committee they would be going back to 
Council for inclusion within the Constitution.

The Chairman of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to 
the Overview and Scrutiny training that had taken place and felt that the 
training had been professionally given and enabled those Members present at 
the training to have a much more productive and focused approach.   

CO43.    ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 

Two Non Key Decisions had been made.

Councillor Mike King had made the following decision on 25.05.17

Adoption of the Foston Neighbourhood Plan – Report SEG43

Decision:

That approval is granted for the Foston Neighbourhood Plan to be part 
of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

Date effective: 05.06.17 subject to call-in 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley had made the following decision on 30.05.17

Amendment to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy – Report LDS218

Decision:

That approval is granted for the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy to be amended to include compulsory e-learning 
safeguarding training whereby all hackney carriage and private hire 
drivers and operators are  required to complete and pass the 
safeguarding awareness training.

Date effective: 08.06.17 subject to call-in

The Leader stated that in future there would be an item on the Council 

Page - 89



agenda with paperwork from the Cabinet meeting for transparency. 

EO1.    REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS 

None were received although the Leader informed those present that a report 
was going to the Constitution Committee with a view to amending the 
Constitution to enable any Member to speak on an item on the agenda 
without prior notice having to be given. 

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE

Decision CO41 stands referred to Council meeting scheduled to be held on 
Thursday 15th June 2017.

South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, 
Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ

Contact: Cabinet Support Officer Lucy Bonshor  - Tel: 01476 40 60 80 extn 6120
e-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk

Page - 90



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for the Environment

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

1st June 2017

Big Clean (report no. ENV660)

Decision
Proposal:

Key Decision and Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Cllr Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for the Environment

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Ian Yates – Executive Manager
01476 406 201 – i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk

Keith Rowe – Business Manager Street Scene 
01476 406 370 – k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk

Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director Environment and Property
01476 406 058 – t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk

Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director Environment and Property
Daren Turner – Strategic Director Corporate

SUMMARY

This report considers the benefits of investing in improving the attractiveness of the 
street scene in South Kesteven. Taking into account where we are now and where we 
would want to be, it identifies how a step change can be best achieved and what is 
required to maintain the higher standards going forward. It details the additional capital 
and revenue financial investments required. This report will be considered by the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their recommendations will be 
presented at this meeting of the Cabinet.

Page - 91

mailto:i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATIONS
That Cabinet supports the following recommendations in order to achieve a step 
change in the attractiveness of the street scene throughout South Kesteven:

1. That Cabinet recommends to Council that the 2017/18 budget framework is 
amended to include the investment of £661,000 revenue and £226,500 capital to 
deliver the “big clean” project.

Subject to Council approval to 1 above:
2. That a Big Clean initiative is undertaken over a 3 month period
3. That the work specification is set to achieve a higher street standard i.e. removal 

of all weeds, washing of street furniture, removal of graffiti as detailed in the 
report

4. That Members and officers develop a South Kesteven “street scene standard” 
5. That following a review of the outcomes from the project ongoing investment in 

the service is considered as growth during the 2018/19 budget process which will 
ensure the higher street standard is maintained

6. That volunteers are actively encouraged and supported to contribute to the 
improvements

7. As part of the big clean project funding, £15,000 is allocated to the community 
cleaner grant scheme to further promote locally resourced cleansing within 
district.

8. That a communications strategy is developed and implemented to support the 
changes

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council’s overriding objective is to encourage economic growth. A key 
element of this aim is the attractiveness of the District. As we are in competition 
with other towns and locations, we need to ensure we attain a higher standard 
of cleansing which appeals to investors, residents and visitors.   It is inevitable 
that it will require investment to achieve our goal, but that investment should, in 
turn, be rewarded by growth.

1.2 Where are we now?
The level of attractiveness across the District varies. Whilst litter is not a major 
problem (our scores against the national standard are good), the overall 
appearance of our streets could be described as “average” as the levels of 
weed growth and associated detritus have increased.   Many pavements, road 
signs and items of street furniture are unclean and we have had some 
complaints describing our town centres as becoming “grubby”. Attractiveness is 
valued by our residents, with the public regularly ranking clean streets in their 
top 5 issues of importance.

Page - 92



1.3 Where do we want to be?
If we are to compete, and attract investment, we need to deliver and maintain a 
significant improvement in the appearance of the District. To achieve this we 
need to engage with our communities, the general public and local businesses 
to harness the volunteer network. We should develop our own District standard 
to measure our performance against rather than defaulting to lower national 
standards. Local authorities are now starting to market themselves as having 
town centres that provide a very high standard of visitor experience: the 
appearance and cleanliness is just one key element of this.  This is about the 
basics of having a clean environment into which people will take pride and 
invest. A simple measure of success will be introduced if the project goes 
ahead.

1.4 The challenge/key issues
In delivering an improved standard, the key cost driver is the size of the District, 
with 365 square miles to be treated, and the reality that our existing operational 
service is not designed to deliver the full scope of the new standard to which we 
aspire.  Whilst lower national standards are achieved, to improve on this value 
for money investment will be a top priority ensuring our resources are utilised to 
maximum effect and efficiency.  Opportunities for utilising volunteers and Town 
and Parish Councils will need to be taken. In such a large area the local 
knowledge of these organisations, residents and our Ward Members will be key 
to targeting our resources wisely. Working jointly with partner organisations who 
have their own responsibilities such as Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
Highways is required.

1.5 What do we need to do?
In order to deliver the required improvements a number of options have been 
developed and evaluated by the Street Care Services Team. The starting point 
is an agreed works specification includes:

 removal of weed growth
 removal of litter and detritus
 removal of fly tipping
 removal of graffiti in the public realm
 cleansing of road signs and street furniture
 removal of graffiti/repainting of utility cabinets as required
 washing of pavements i.e. moss and bird faeces
 cutting back overhanging vegetation to keep footpaths clear
 cutting back path overgrowth as a long term objective

1.6 Preferred and Recommended Option
Taking into account the evaluation options detailed in paragraph 2 below, the 
preferred option is a hybrid (option 2 with an ongoing commitment to the higher 
standard) delivering investment in both the short term and longer term. The 
proposal is for:

 A £661,000 investment in both short term and longer term teams (5 in 
total) during  2017/18 consisting of:

Page - 93



 An initial revenue investment of £450,000 providing 4 teams, 
targeting identified areas over a 3 month period, bringing the 
District to a high standard of appearance.

 A further revenue in year investment of £211,000 funding an 
additional team to support the delivery of the higher standard on 
an ongoing basis. Alongside the introduction of permanent 
cleansing operatives based in the Deepings and Bourne. 

 A further capital investment in year of £226,000 for the purchase of the 
necessary equipment and vehicles to support the additional 
deployment (the annualised equivalent cost of this initial outlay is 
approximately £39,300 per year based upon the life of the vehicles 
and plant).

 An ongoing additional annual investment beyond the current year of 
£439,000 in revenue, and £101,500 in capital in order to maintain the 
new higher standards and introduce additional support in the Southern 
area of the district (the annualised equivalent cost of this capital outlay 
is equivalent to £21,100 per year based upon the life of the vehicles 
and plant).

 Review the ongoing operation to ensure the best value in terms of 
investment in mechanical equipment.

 Development of a local higher standard specification for rating our 
streets ready for implementation after the initial 3 months initiative.

1.7 Mechanical Plant

The project will utilise a significant level of mechanical plant together with 
additional staffing resources. This will be highly visible and help raise 
awareness of the project with the public and highlight the levels of investment 
being made on their behalf. The benefits of using mechanical plant are the 
improved efficiencies and far higher levels of final finish. It is envisaged that the 
initial 3 month cleanse will utilise:

 4 large mechanical road sweepers
 8 small mechanical pavement sweepers
 8 mechanical weed rippers
 4 vehicles with tow behind pressure washers 
 8 caged vehicles

Products available in the market will be evaluated to ensure that we equip 
ourselves to maintain our streets as cost effectively as possible.

1.8 Communications and Volunteers

The success of the project will, in part, rely on the communications with the 
general public, other local bodies and business sector. Information will be 
gathered from Ward Members, Parish and Town Councils, residents and local 
businesses to allow our resources to be targeted in the most effective way. 
Raising awareness of the project and the reasons for it are key in promoting the 

Page - 94



District and achieving essential levels of public and business sector support. 
Input from community volunteers will be sought to supplement the Councils 
service offer. The Community Cleaner Grant Scheme could also be reviewed to 
evaluate the potential impact of more widespread up-take by local parish 
councils.

1.9 Project Timeline

If the proposals contained in this report are supported by the Cabinet this 
initiative could commence during the summer months of this year. The following 
table details the potential milestones that could be incorporated into the project.

Stage Date
Environment - Overview and Scrutiny 23rd May 2017
Tender specifications prepared and issued 24th  May 2017
Communications plan drafted 26th May 2017
Cabinet (budget and project proposal) 1st June 2017
Tenders received 2nd June 2017
Council (for budget approval) 15th June 2017
Comms plan initiated 16th June 2017
Tenders evaluated 19th June 2017
Contracts awarded 30th June 2017
Project Start – induction/training 31st July 2017
Operations commence 9th August 2017
Ends 27th October 2017

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The main variables influencing the options are the time taken to deliver the one 
off project, the locations, the number of streets to be treated and the ability to 
maintain the higher standard on an ongoing basis. Each option has been 
evaluated against the level of impact, the levels of risk and the perceived value 
for money against the level of investment. The key options considered were:

Option 1 - Undertake a big clean of entire district within a 6 week period

Option 2 - An intelligence based, targeted approach

Option 3 – General increase in the ongoing level of service provision

2.2 The evaluation of the above options is detailed in Appendix 1. This 
demonstrates that Option 1 requires large scale investment for a one off return 
and Option 3 provides minimal immediate step change, leaving Option 2 
providing the best balance in terms of value for money and impact but no 
ongoing solution. 

Page - 95



3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The project will be subject to the Council’s accepted rules in respect of budget 
approvals and relevant procurement rules.  Lincolnshire Procurement will assist 
with the preparatory work to support the procurement of equipment and other 
resources once the Council is clear about its preferred option and the local 
standard it wishes to deliver. Framework agreements may be utilised. 

3.2 The financial assessments have been based on quotations provided through 
soft market testing and are subject to the final tender prices. The initial 
estimated costs are as shown below:

3.3 Revenue Estimates

3.4 Capital Estimates

2017/18 
(additional 
funding)

Projected 
2018/19 costs

One off Short Term Big Clean
Additional ongoing investment £226,500 £101,500
Total Additional Budget 
Requirement

£226,500 £101,500

Equivalent annualised costs £39,000 £21,100

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Delivery of the recommended option will utilise project management 
methodologies.  It is intended that project management and supervision will be 
supported from within the Council’s existing resources; back filling as required. 
The normal cleansing routines will continue to be delivered in accordance with 
the existing plans. There are risks and issues associated with the 
recommendations which will need to be managed and mitigated wherever 
possible.  For example the project is highly dependent on the availability of 
labour from local employment agencies and equipment from specialist rental 

2017/18 
(additional 
funding)

Projected 
2018/19 costs

One off Short Term Big Clean £450,000 0
Additional ongoing investment £211,000 £439,000
Total Additional Budget 
Requirement (in comparison with 
2017/18 approved budget)

£661,000 £439,000

Page - 96



companies. Whist every endeavour has been made to assess availability it is 
only on the placing of orders that any clarity can be gained on delivery dates. 

4.2 One key limiting factor is the speed at which weeds can be removed. Research 
has been undertaken which has identified the best mechanical weed ripper 
equipment readily available. These have been used to assist in the evaluation 
as to the levels of overall resources required.   Some time and motion studies 
alongside random sampling to measure the levels of weed growth have allowed 
assessments to be made, which have then been applied to the overall 3 million 
plus metres of kerb lines. Weed spraying is now less and less effective due to 
the reduction in frequency of treatments carried out by Lincolnshire County 
Council (LCC) and the reduced concentrations of some chemicals. LCC 
Highways have agreed to align their weed spraying operations with the Districts 
mechanical removal programme to offer the most enduring solution. Similarly 
road gullies that are identified as needing attention will be addressed by LCC. It 
may also be necessary to utilise road closure orders to assist in freeing up 
streets ready for a deep cleanse in heavily parked areas.

Category Risk Action / Controls
Medium for preferred 
option

These are detailed in Appendix 2 of this 
report

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

If any part of the proposals require the consideration of road closure or other 
action which may impact individuals, an equality analysis will be carried out to 
determine the impact on those with protected characteristics and how any 
negative impact can be mitigated.  

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

Clean attractive environments can encourage positive behaviours particularly in 
respect of fly-tipping and littering.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

The financial implications of this proposal are significant and require careful 
consideration. The costings in the report will constitute a significant variation to 
the current budget framework agreed 2017/18 in terms of both capital and 
revenue. As a balanced budget has been achieved for the current year, the only 
short term option to fund the proposed in year investment is to utilise existing 
reserves. 

As stated, utilising reserves is not sustainable going forward. Therefore, based 
on the current Council approved Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), the 
future investment must be considered against other already established 
budgets, future growth in income and further savings and efficiencies. Additional 

Page - 97



pressures would also need to be considered against these proposals when 
constructing a revised budget strategy for 2018/19 and beyond. At this stage 
the additional future years funding has not been included within the MTFS. If 
funding for future years is to be considered, then options will need to be 
developed alongside other budgetary growth and pressures, to determine how 
the additional costs can be accommodated.  These options will include 
consideration of future Council Tax levels, identifying opportunities to generate 
income to offset costs and reducing costs elsewhere in the budget framework.  

However it is recognised that investing in the district as, detailed in the 
proposal, should have a positive impact on the economic viability and therefore 
create overall wealth and prosperity. Therefore the investment could potentially 
offer income generation opportunities in the future. 

There is a financial risk that the costs incurred in 2017/18 could be aborted if 
future funding is not secured. These will include plant equipment and staffing, 
and would require disposal of purchased assets and reducing the workforce 
back to original levels.

It is recommended that the Cabinet review the outcomes of the initiative, in 
order to inform the 2018/19 budget process.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

Section 89(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on certain 
authorities, including District Councils, to ensure that their land (or land for 
which they are responsible) is, so far as is practicable, kept clear of litter and 
refuse.   The Council should, have regard to the Code of Practice on Litter and 
Refuse that acts as a practical guide to the discharge of these duties

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

None

10. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Option appraisal
Appendix 2 – Risk log 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2
21087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf

Page - 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221087/pb11577b-cop-litter.pdf


Options Appraisal - APPENDIX 1

Option appraisal Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
Significant 6 week clean up covering all 
areas

Intelligence based targeted clean over 
3 months

Investment in ongoing service

 39 teams fully equipped
 Equipment hired in
 160 agency staff
 Project managed internally
 Backfilling for normal service 

operation
 Significant volunteer comms

 4 teams over 12 weeks
 Ability to size according to 

priorities
 40 agency staff
 Project managed internally
 Backfilling as required
 Significant volunteer comms

 3 teams permanently 
recruited

 Cover whole area over 52 
weeks

 24 full time employees

Cost v value  £1.1m one off cost (minimum)
 High risk in terms of delivery 

within budget
 High cost v value achieved
 Public perception impact 

significant
 No ongoing investment to 

maintain standards
 Comms impact significant with 

high volunteer take up

 £450k one off cost
 Medium risk in terms of 

delivering within budget
 Medium cost v value achieved
 Public perception significant
 No ongoing investment to 

maintain standards
 Comms impact significant with 

high volunteer take up

 £600k annual cost
 Low risk in terms of 

delivering within budget
 Medium cost v higher value 

achieved
 Public perception less 

significant
 Ongoing investment to 

maintain standards
 Comms impact and volunteer 

take up less.
Cost v perception (vfm)  High costs

 High visibility 
 High comms demand
 Value for money questionable
 High risk if areas missed

 Lower cost
 Medium to high visibility
 Extended demand on comms
 Higher value for money (less 

wasteful)

 Medium cost
 Lower visibility
 Long term demand on 

comms
 Lower perception of value

P
age - 99



Risk Log - APPENDIX 2

Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
Health and safety Operational 

environment 
within the public 
realm

Full risk assessments 
for each task and 
comprehensive 
training through 
induction period

Injury or damage to 
persons/property
Negative PR
Increased costs

Ensuring the welfare 
of our 
employees/operatives 
and the public is 
paramount.

Low Low Low

Insufficient 
Budgeted 
Funding

Initial data was 
flawed.
Council do not 
approve funding

Sampling took place 
over the 365 square 
miles and that data 
was used as basis for 
calculation.
Allow for a financial 
contingency of 10%

Insufficient funding 
to complete the 
whole task

Contingency fund to 
be considered

High Medium/
Low

Medium/
Low

Initial data was 
flawed

Times did not 
allow for a 
comprehensive 
survey of the 
area. Sampling 
and knowledge of 
processes has 
been used but 
also relies on 
estimations

Sampling took place 
over the 365 square 
miles and that data 
was used as basis for 
calculation

All the areas not 
covered in the 
timescale

Could impact on all 
aspects of the 
scheme: insufficient 
funds, equipment, 
staff and time. 

High Medium Medium

Agencies unable 
to provide 
sufficient staffing

Local agencies 
have a finite list of 
casual workers

Agencies have been 
alerted as to the 
requirements but we 
are unable to provide 
orders until such time 
as appropriate 
budgets are in place

Insufficient numbers 
of staff will restrict 
the numbers of 
teams that can be 
deployed into the 
field, this will either, 
extend the period of 
the exercise or will 
stop it entirely 

Consider extending 
time to allow for 
reduced staffing levels

High Medium N/A

Agency prices 
are 
underestimated

Budget 
insufficient 

3 estimates obtained Need additional 
funding or reduce 
the scope.

Low Low N/AP
age - 100



Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
Agency Staff fail 
to attend work as 
required

Local agencies 
have been asked 
to manage their 
staff attendance 
and to replace 
any who do not 
turn up

If staff do not turn up, 
teams will have to be 
rearranged so the 
maximum of full 
teams can be 
deployed

As above High Medium/
High

N/A

Agency do not 
provide the same 
staff on a daily 
basis

Although same 
people will be 
requested, it is 
possible that they 
do not attend 
each day

This will mean that 
additional training will 
have to be carried out

This will delay the 
service due to staff 
not being available 
for work

High Medium/
High

N/A

Suppliers unable 
to provide 
sufficient 
vehicles, plant 
and machinery 
for hire

Initial contact with 
various suppliers 
has been 
relatively positive 
but all stated that 
until orders are 
placed they 
cannot 
guarantee.

Options for 
cancellation, extended 
period of works or 
changing method 
would need 
consideration

Insufficient numbers 
of Vehicles / Plant / 
Machinery will 
restrict the numbers 
of teams that can be 
deployed into the 
field, this will either, 
extend the period of 
the exercise or will 
stop it entirely 

High Medium/
Low

N/A

Weed growth Whilst we will 
remove all weeds 
at the time of 
passing, 
additional weed 
growth may be 
visible some time 
afterwards

Work with LCC to 
weed spray 4 – 6 
weeks afterwards or 
to fund the weed 
spraying ourselves.
Regular cleansing 
teams to ensure 
weeds maintained in 
town centres etc

Too many weeds will 
detract from the 
street scene

Weeds are the 
province of LCC but 
too much additional 
weed growth will undo 
all of the good work 
on the streets. Or we 
undertake the weed 
spray rather than LCC

Medium/ 
Low

Medium/ 
Low

Medium/ 
Low

P
age - 101



Risk Reason Mitigation Impact Remarks Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
Insufficient 
Supervision / 
Management

Without 
supervision 
teams may not 
work quickly 
enough, may not 
work thoroughly 
enough

Additional supervision 
funded through 
project

Jobs not being done 
correctly or taking 
too long to complete

Medium Low Low

Lack of 
communications

Contact needs to 
be maintained 
with each team

Each team leader to 
be issued with a 
council (basic) phone

Jobs not being done 
correctly or taking 
too long to complete

Medium Low Low

Insufficient small 
plant available to 
purchase

Suppliers may 
have to send for 
additional units 
from 
manufacturers, 
which may take 
time 

Use different suppliers 
to provide equipment

Insufficient numbers 
will result in a 
delayed start

Medium Low Low

Levels of spend 
require time 
consuming 
procurement 
processes

Required to 
adhere to 
competition rules 
and VFM 
procurement

Use of Framework 
Agreements

Delayed start High Low Low

Ongoing funding 
for future years is 
not secured.

The MTFS does 
not include the 
significant 
financial 
investment being 
proposed and 
cannot be 
accommodated 
without significant 
reductions in 
costs elsewhere 
in the Council’s 
budgets or 
significant income 
generation.

Council to consider 
options to secure 
funding

Financial risk to the 
17/18 investment

Low High High

P
age - 102



Step change not 
made 

Without a one off 
initial investment 
the change 
across 365 
square miles may 
not be achieved 
in a short time 
period

Look to an option 
which provides 
enough resource to 
make the change

Areas remain at a 
lower standard for 
long periods of time

Low Low High

P
age - 103



CABINET MEMBER DECISION
Decision:   

That approval is granted for the Foston Neighbourhood Plan to be 
part of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

(1) Details of Decision

To consider whether the Foston Neighbourhood Plan should be made part of 
the Development Plan for South Kesteven

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The decision to make the Foston Neighbourhood Plan part of the 
Development Plan is a legal requirement in the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.The only circumstance where the district council should 
not make this decision is where the making of the plan would breach, or 
would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). The 
Council is satisfied that there is no breach of EU obligations.

The Neighbourhood Plan, including its preparation, does not breach, and 
would not otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 
Therefore the only available option open to the Council is to make the plan 
part of the Development Plan for South Kesteven.

There is a requirement that the District Council will publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012. The district council will therefore publish a formal decision 
statement as required under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The Localism Act 2011 (the Act) introduced Neighbourhood Planning as a 
new way for communities to help shape future development in their area.  
One of the types of Neighbourhood Planning that has been introduced is 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP), which set out policies for the 
development and use of land in a particular area.  If a NDP has successfully 
passed all stages of preparation including an Examination and Referendum 
the LPA must adopt it as part of the Development Plan for the Neighbourhood 
Area.

Page - 104



In accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Regulations 2012 (as amended), the 
Authority must ‘make’ the Plan through its own constitutional process, in this 
case a non-key decision by the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Development within 8 weeks of the referendum date, which in this instance is 
30 June 2017. The non-key decision must also be published on the Council 
website in accordance with standard practice and procedure. 

The Plan has been through a significant amount of formal and informal 
consultation. Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14) on the Foston 
Neighbourhood Plan took place between 16 September and 4 November 
2015. The Plan was subsequently Published under Regulation 16 by the 
Council between 7 October and 18 November 2016.  

The Council, with the agreement of Foston Parish Council, appointed Dr 
Angus Kennedy OBE, MA, MRTPI, MCIH as the Independent Examiner. All 
the representations received on the Examination version of the Plan were 
forwarded to him for consideration. 

The Examiner decided that the issues raised in the representations did not 
require a public hearing to be held.

It is the role of the Examiner to consider whether a neighbourhood plan 
meets the Basic Conditions. In order to do this the Plan must: 

 Have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State;

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
 Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 

development plan for the area; and
 Be compatible with European Union obligations and, not breach, 

nor be in anyway incompatible with the European Convention on 
Human Rights.

The Examiner’s report into the Plan was received on the 20 February 2017. 
Subject to the recommended changes, the Examiner found that, the Plan 
meets the basic conditions in terms of:

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy
 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development
 being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the 

development plan for the local area
 being compatible with human rights requirements
 being compatible with European Union obligations

The Examiner recommended to the Council that, subject to the modifications 
proposed, the Plan should proceed to a Referendum.

The Referendum was held on 4 May 2017 and the following question was 

Page - 105



asked - Do you want South Kesteven District Council to use the 
neighbourhood plan for Foston to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area? 48% of those on the Electoral Register for Foston 
Parish turned out for the Referendum. 87% voted in favour, i.e. of the 207 
votes cast, 180 were cast in favour of ‘yes’ and 27 were cast in favour of ‘no’.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Mike King
Cabinet Member for Economy and Development

Date of Decision: 25 May 2017

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 25 May 2017

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

05 June 2017

Page - 106



CABINET MEMBER DECISION
Decision:   

That approval is granted for the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy to be amended to include compulsory e-learning 
safeguarding training whereby all hackney carriage and private hire 
drivers and operators are  required to complete and pass the 
safeguarding awareness training.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
to be amended to include compulsory e-learning safeguarding training 
whereby all hackney carriage and private hire drivers and operators are  
required to complete and pass the safeguarding awareness training

(2) Considerations/Evidence

South Kesteven District Council is responsible for licensing all drivers, 
operators and vehicles used to provide taxi and private hire vehicle services 
in the District.  The safety and protection of the public is of paramount 
concern.

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy was last revised in 
April 2015 and since this revision there have been a number of areas of 
national concern surrounding taxi licensing which was identified by the 
Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) in Rotherham 
carried out by Alexis Jay OBE and the subsequent inspection report of Louise 
Casey CB.  This Non Key Decision seeks to amend the policy to enable the 
authority to address the concerns raised in the Rotherham reports and to give 
specific consideration to the introduction of mandatory training on CSE for 
those seeking to obtain a taxi or private hire licence to operate within the 
district. 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

In recent years there has been greater awareness about the issue of Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE). High profile media coverage of specific cases has 
highlighted failures within certain public sector bodies. These failures often 
allowed the abuse of vulnerable children to carry on without being detected or 
acted upon.

In the wake of such incidents and as a result of the attention that grooming 

Page - 107



and other forms of exploitation has received since the publication of Alexis 
Jay’s independent inquiry into Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council’s 
handling of accusations of CSE the Government has put an additional focus 
on combating CSE. 

One area of concern identified within Louise Casey’s follow up Report of 
Inspection was whether Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council had made 
sufficient efforts to ensure that only ‘fit and proper’ persons were permitted to 
hold a taxi or private hire licence.  During the initial Independent Inquiry 
Professor Jay described the prominent role of taxi drivers in facilitating or 
engaging in CSE as a ‘common thread’ across England, while inspectors 
have raised concerns that the licensing and enforcement side of taxi and 
private hire regulation are often unable or uninterested in getting to grips with 
the issue and using their powers to good effect.

Licensing Authorities need to be aware of the potential role that taxi drivers 
can play in facilitating abuse and ensure that only those who are fit and 
proper hold a licence, and that there are robust procedures in place for 
dealing with any accusation or incident. Public safety must be the first and 
most important priority when developing policy, setting standards and 
determining enforcement of issues related to taxi and private hire licensing.

It is also important that those with responsibility for overseeing the taxi and 
private hire licensing functions of local authorities are aware of the challenges 
that those operating within the trade may face when asked to transport 
children or vulnerable young adults. Taxi drivers fall under the scope of 
Section 59(A) of the Sexual Offences Act 2003, which makes it an offence to 
intentionally arrange or facilitate the travel of a person within the UK for the 
purposes of sexual exploitation; or believes that another person is likely to 
abuse the passenger during or after the journey. This means that if a driver 
transports a child knowing or believing that the child will be sexually 
exploited, that driver will commit the offence of human trafficking and could 
face a maximum sentence of 14 years imprisonment.

There is therefore a responsibility, shared between the Council, taxi 
operators, and individual drivers to ensure that licensed drivers are aware of 
the warning signs that could indicate when a passenger is at risk of trafficking 
or CSE, and that training is available or has been undertaken to assist those 
in the taxi trade to deal with such scenarios and report them to the relevant 
authorities.

South Kesteven District Council has already included a comprehensive guide 
to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults in its recently revised taxi and 
private hire policy.  The inclusion of mandatory training on Safeguarding 
Everyone and on CSE for all taxi and private hire drivers will strengthen this 
and bring us into line with other surrounding local authorities thereby meeting 
the requirements of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB).

Page - 108



There are various ways of delivering training, some councils have opted for 
seminars and others have opted for an e-learning course, whereby applicants 
receive training and answer questions on-line.  Firstly e-learning packages, 
there is a possibility that applicants would not complete the on-line course 
themselves, but instead enlist help from others.  Secondly, organising 
continuous seminars for taxi drivers will be labour intensive and somewhat 
impractical over a period of time, given low numbers of attendees.

Officers have considered both options and in view of the six neighbouring 
authorities opting for training by way of an e-learning course provided free of 
charge by the LSCB, this is considered to be the appropriate option 
particularly in view of the fact that the policy already includes robust guidance 
in relation to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.   

All new applicants as from 1st July 2017 would be required to complete and 
pass the safeguarding awareness training.  All existing drivers would be 
required to complete and pass the safeguarding awareness training on their 
next annual check or renewal. 

Failure to complete and pass the safeguarding awareness training would, in 
accordance with the current policy, result either in the driver badge not being 
renewed or the matter being referred to the licensing committee which could 
potentially result in suspension or revocation of the licence.  

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment

Date of Decision: 30 May 2017

Page - 109



Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 31 May 2017 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

08 June 2017

Page - 110


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2017
	5 Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
	6b Recommendations made at the meeting on 22 May 2017
	Constitution Cmtte Report Appendix

	7 Appointment of Interim Chief Executive
	CHIEF EXEC NEW JD Final
	SKDC Interim CX 12 month objectives

	8 Big Clean Operation - Proposals to amend Budget framework 2017/18
	CFM421AppendixA
	CFM421 Appendix B

	9 Appointments to committees of the Council
	10 Leader's Report on Urgent Decisions
	11 Cabinet minutes from the meeting on 1 June 2017
	Cab mins 01.06.17
	ENV660 v4, 01/06/2017 Cabinet
	MK  SEG43 25.05.17
	PM LDS218 30.05.17


